
 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

 Wednesday, 22nd January, 
2020 
at 5.30 pm 

Committee Room 1 - Civic Centre 
 

This meeting is open to the public 
 

 Members 
 

 Councillor Fielker 
Councillor Paffey 
Councillor Savage 
Councillor Shields 
Councillor Taggart 
 
Rob Kurn – Healthwatch 
Hilary Brooks – Service Director, Children and Families 
Services 
Stephanie Ramsay – Director of Quality and Integration 
Dr J Horsley – Director of Public Health 
Dr M Kelsey  – Clinical Commissioning Group   
Vacancy – NHS England Wessex Local Area Team  
 

  
 

 Contacts 
 Pat Wood 

Democratic Support Officer 
Tel: 023 8083 2302 
Email: pat.wood@southampton.gov.uk 
 

  
  

  

  

 

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:pat.wood@southampton.gov.uk


 

 

BACKGROUND AND RELEVANT INFORMATION 
 

Purpose of the Board 
The purpose of the Southampton Health and Wellbeing Board is: 

 To bring together Southampton City Council and key NHS commissioners to improve the 
health and wellbeing of citizens, thereby helping them live their lives to the full, and to reduce 
health inequalities; 

 To ensure that all activity across partner organisations supports positive health outcomes for 
local people and keeps them safe. 

 To hold partner organisations to account for the oversight of related commissioning strategies 
and plans. 

 To have oversight of the environmental factors that impact on health, and to influence the 
City Council, its partners and Regulators to support a healthy environment for people who live 
and work in Southampton 

Responsibilities 
The Board is responsible for developing mechanisms to undertake the duties of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, in particular 

 Promoting joint commissioning and integrated delivery of services; 

 Acting as the lead commissioning vehicle for designated service areas; 

 Ensuring an up to date JSNA and other appropriate assessments are in place 

 Ensuring the development of a Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Southampton and 
monitoring its delivery. 

 Oversight and assessment of the effectiveness of local public involvement in health, public 
health and care services 

 Ensuring the system for partnership working is working effectively between health and care 
services and systems, and the work of other partnerships which contribute to health and 
wellbeing outcomes for local people.   

 Testing the local framework for commissioning for: 
o Health care 
o Social care 
o Public health services 
o Ensuring safety in improving health and wellbeing outcomes 

Smoking policy – The Council operates a no-
smoking policy in all civic buildings. 

Mobile Telephones:- Please switch your 

mobile telephones to silent whilst in the meeting  

The Southampton City Council Strategy (2016-2020) 
is a key document and sets out the four key 
outcomes that make up our vision. 

 Southampton has strong and sustainable 
economic growth 

 Children and young people get a good start 
in life  

 People in Southampton live safe, healthy, 
independent lives 

 Southampton is an attractive modern City, 
where people are proud to live and work 

 

Fire Procedure – In the event of a fire or other 
emergency, a continuous alarm will sound and 
you will be advised, by officers of the Council, of 
what action to take 
Access – Access is available for disabled 
people.  Please contact the Democratic Support 
Officer who will help to make any necessary 
arrangements.  

Use of Social Media:- The Council supports the 
video or audio recording of meetings open to the 
public, for either live or subsequent broadcast. 
However, if, in the Chair’s opinion, a person 
filming or recording a meeting or taking 
photographs is interrupting proceedings or 
causing a disturbance, under the Council’s 
Standing Orders the person can be ordered to 
stop their activity, or to leave the meeting. By 
entering the meeting room you are consenting to 
being recorded and to the use of those images 
and recordings for broadcasting and or/training 
purposes. The meeting may be recorded by the 
press or members of the public. 
Any person or organisation filming, recording or 
broadcasting any meeting of the Council is 
responsible for any claims or other liability 
resulting from them doing so. 
Details of the Council’s Guidance on the recording 
of meetings is available on the Council’s website. 
Dates of Meetings: Municipal Year 2019/20 

2019 2020 

19 June  22 January 

  
 

http://www.southampton.gov.uk/Images/Council-strategy-2016-20_tcm63-387729.pdf


 

CONDUCT OF MEETING 
 
BUSINESS TO BE DISCUSSED 
Only those items listed on the attached agenda may be considered at this meeting. 
 
PROCEDURE / PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS 
At the discretion of the Chair, members of the public may address the meeting on any report 
included on the agenda in which they have a relevant interest. Any member of the public wishing to 
address the meeting should advise the Democratic Support Officer (DSO) whose contact details are 
on the front sheet of the agenda. 
 
RULES OF PROCEDURE 
The meeting is governed by the Executive 
Procedure Rules as set out in Part 4 of the 
Council’s Constitution. 
 

QUORUM 
The minimum number of appointed Members 
required to be in attendance to hold the meeting is 
3 who will include at least one Elected Member, a 
member from Health and Healthwatch.   
 

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS 

Members are required to disclose, in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct, both 
the existence and nature of any “Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” or “Other Interest”  they 
may have in relation to matters for consideration on this Agenda. 

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

A Member must regard himself or herself as having a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any 
matter that they or their spouse, partner, a person they are living with as husband or wife, or 
a person with whom they are living as if they were a civil partner in relation to:  

(i) Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 
(ii) Sponsorship: 
Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from Southampton City Council) 
made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any expense incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses. This includes any payment or financial 
benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 
(iii) Any contract which is made between you / your spouse etc (or a body in which the you / your 
spouse etc has a beneficial interest) and Southampton City Council under which goods or services 
are to be provided or works are to be executed, and which has not been fully discharged. 
(iv) Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of Southampton. 
(v) Any license (held alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of Southampton for a 
month or longer. 
(vi) Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) the landlord is Southampton City Council and the tenant 
is a body in which you / your spouse etc has a beneficial interests. 
(vii) Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where that body (to your knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of Southampton, and either: 

a) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that body, or 

b) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of the 
shares of any one class in which you / your spouse etc has a beneficial interest that exceeds 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Other Interests 
 
 

A Member must regard himself or herself as having an, ‘Other Interest’ in any membership 
of, or  occupation of a position of general control or management in: 

 
 
Any body to which they  have been appointed or nominated by Southampton City Council 
 
Any public authority or body exercising functions of a public nature 
 
Any body directed to charitable purposes 
 
Any body whose principal purpose includes the influence of public opinion or policy 
 

Principles of Decision Making 
 
All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles:- 
 

 proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome); 

 due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers; 

 respect for human rights; 

 a presumption in favour of openness, accountability and transparency; 

 setting out what options have been considered; 

 setting out reasons for the decision; and 

 clarity of aims and desired outcomes. 
 

In exercising discretion, the decision maker must: 
 

 understand the law that regulates the decision making power and gives effect to it.  The 
decision-maker must direct itself properly in law; 

 take into account all relevant matters (those matters which the law requires the authority 
as a matter of legal obligation to take into account); 

 leave out of account irrelevant considerations; 

 act for a proper purpose, exercising its powers for the public good; 

 not reach a decision which no authority acting reasonably could reach, (also known as 
the “rationality” or “taking leave of your senses” principle); 

 comply with the rule that local government finance is to be conducted on an annual 
basis.  Save to the extent authorised by Parliament, ‘live now, pay later’ and forward 
funding are unlawful; and 

 act with procedural propriety in accordance with the rules of fairness. 
 



 

 

AGENDA 

 

 
1   APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN MEMBERSHIP (IF ANY)    

 
 To note any changes in membership of the Board made in accordance with Council 

Procedure Rule 4.3.  
 

2   STATEMENT FROM THE CHAIR     
 

3   DISCLOSURE OF PERSONAL AND PECUNIARY INTERESTS    
 

 In accordance with the Localism Act 2011, and the Council’s Code of Conduct, 
Members to disclose any personal or pecuniary interests in any matter included on the 
agenda for this meeting.  
 

4   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (INCLUDING MATTERS ARISING)    
 

 To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 19 June 
2019 and to deal with any matters arising.  
 

5   DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19    
 

 Report of the former Director of Public Health for Portsmouth and Southampton 
presenting the Director of Public Health's Annual Report 2018/19.  
 

Tuesday, 14 January 2020 Director of Legal and Governance 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

- 1 - 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 19 JUNE 2019 
 

 

Present: Councillors Dr Paffey, Savage, Shields (Chair) and Taggart 
 Hilary Brooks, Harry Dymond, Jason Horsley and Stephanie Ramsey 

 
Apologies: Councillor Fielker, Dr Kelsey and Rob Kurn 

 
 

1. ELECTION OF CHAIR  

RESOLVED that Councillor Shields be elected as Chair for the 2019-2020 municipal 
year 
 

2. ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR  

RESOLVED that Dr Kelsey be elected as Vice-Chair for the 2019-2020 municipal year. 
 

3. APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN MEMBERSHIP (IF ANY)  

The Board noted that Harry Dymond from Health Watch was in attendance as a 
nominated substitute for Rob Kurn. 
 
The apologies of Councillor Fielker, Dr Kelsey and Rob Kurn were noted. 
 
The Board also noted that the Councillors Fielker, Paffey, Savage, Shields and Taggart 
were appointed as members of the Board at Cabinet on 18 June 2019.  NHS England 
Wessex Local Area Team had not indicated who had been appointed as member to the 
board for the new municipal year and consideration was given to including someone 
from the pharmaceutical association on the board. 
 
RESOLVED that the appointment of a member from NHS England Wessex Local Area 
Team would be made for the next meeting of the board. 
 

4. STATEMENT FROM THE CHAIR  

The chair noted that the Board had received an invitation to participate in a consultation 
on plans for the development on Southampton International Airport.   
 
RESOLVED that the representation of the Board at the Southampton International 
Airport consultation on plans for development, would be agreed by the Chair and Vice 
Chair.  
 

5. DISCLOSURE OF PERSONAL AND PECUNIARY INTERESTS  

Councillor Shields declared a personal interest in that he was a Council appointed 
representative of the Clinical Commissioning Group.  Councillor Savage declared a 
personal interest in that his wife worked as a co-ordinator for a counselling service.  
They remained in the meeting and took part in the consideration and determinations of 
items on the agenda. 
 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



 

- 2 - 
 

6. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (INCLUDING MATTERS ARISING)  

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 19 December 2018 be approved 
and signed as a correct record. 
 

7. SOUTHAMPTON CITY FIVE YEAR HEALTH & CARE STRATEGY  

The Board considered the report of the Director of Quality and Integration detailing the 
updates to the Southampton City Five Year Health & Care Strategy. 
 
Clare Young - Programme Management Office Manager, NHS Southampton Clinical 
Commissioning Group; Dan King - Service Lead Intelligence & Strategic Analysis, 
Southampton City Council; Felicity Ridgeway - Service Lead Policy, Partnerships and 
Strategic Planning, Southampton City Council; Richard Crouch - Chief Operations 
Officer (Customer Experience), Southampton City Council and Dave Stewart, Leader 
and Cabinet Member for Strategic Partnerships, Isle of Wight Council, were present 
and with the consent of the chair addressed the Board. 
 
The Board noted that the strategy: 

 was a draft and remained a work in progress 

 looked at how indicators of deprivation had affected health and outcomes in the 
city, such as impact on life expectancy, respiratory health, diabetes, mental 
health, depression, breastfeeding, smoking during pregnancy, smoking inactivity, 
looked after children, unemployment, crime 

 looked at how indicators of deprivation had affected health care usage 

 identified that the main causes of death were cancer, circulatory disease and 
respiratory disease 

 considered the population forecast, long term conditions forecasting and adult 
social care forecasting 

 had been developed in partnership with NHS Southampton Clinical 
Commissioning Group, Southampton City Council, health and care service 
providers and the voluntary sector 

 had a strategic framework with four main programmes of work – start well, live 
well, age well and die well 

 Better Care Southampton would be the governance group of the strategy 

 was a strategy for the city that was aligned with the Council’s Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 

 
The Board also noted that there had been reasonable involvement of the public within 
specific groups and that there would be wider consultation with service users. 
 
 
RESOLVED that the board members would provide feedback on the draft Southampton 
City Five Year Health and Care Strategy and their comments would be sent directly to 
Claire Young – Programme Management Office Manager, NHS Southampton Clinical 
Commissioning Group. 
 

8. BETTER CARE END OF YEAR REPORT  

The Board received the report of the Director of Quality and Integration that provided an 
overview of performance in 2018/19 against Southampton's Better Care programme 
and pooled fund, including the improved Better Care Fund (iBCF), and highlighted 
priorities for 2019/20. 

Page 2



 

- 3 - 
 

 
Donna Chapman - NHS Southampton Clinical Commissioning Group; Felicity Ridgeway 
- Service Lead Policy, Partnerships and Strategic Planning, Southampton City Council; 
and Dave Stewart, Leader and Cabinet Member for Strategic Partnerships, Isle of 
Wight Council, were present and with the consent of the chair addressed the Board. 
 
The Board particularly noted that: 

 the Better Care programme had brought together physical and mental health 
services, statutory and non-statutory organisations, a strength based approach 
and a local place based approach 

 the Better Care programme included a set of measures so that it could be seen 
where developments had been effective 

 the clinical model was working well, the contractual model needed to catch up 

 the pilots had been very successful and achieved great results and the board 
hoped they could be replicated in a wider area 

 
 

9. JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT  UPDATE  

The Board received the Report of Director of Public Health that provided an update on 
the Southampton Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy Scorecard. 
 
Southampton City Council officers, Dan King, Service Lead - Intelligence & Strategic 
Analysis, Intelligence, Insight & Communications and Felicity Ridgeway - Service Lead 
Policy, Partnerships and Strategic Planning, were present and with the consent of the 
chair addressed the Board. 
 
The Board noted that the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment had been incorporated into 
a new Single Needs Assessment with all content available as an online resource. 
 

 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



DECISION-MAKER:  HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

SUBJECT: Director of Public Health Annual Report 

DATE OF DECISION: 22 January 2020 

REPORT OF: Former Director of Public Health for Portsmouth and 
Southampton 

CONTACT DETAILS 

AUTHOR: Name:  Dr Jason Horsley Tel: 023 8083 3310 

 E-mail: strategy.unit@southampton.gov.uk 

Director Name:  Debbie Chase 

Director of Public Health  

Tel: 023 8083 3694 

 E-mail: debbie.chase@southampton.gov.uk 

 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

N/A 

BRIEF SUMMARY 

The Southampton Director of Public Health Annual Report 2018/19 is titled “Tip of the 
Iceberg: Harm related to illicit drugs”. The report focusses on drugs that are used 
illegally and the harms they cause.  

This report is an independent review written by Dr Jason Horsley, the Joint Director of 
Public Health for Southampton and Portsmouth at the time of writing the report. The 
report reflects the opinions of Dr Horsley in his position as Joint Director for Public 
Health, unless quoted as otherwise.  

This was the second Annual Report written jointly for both Southampton and 
Portsmouth, since the introduction of a Joint Director in 2016. The 
recommendations in the report are therefore applicable to both cities. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 (i) That the Health and Wellbeing Board note the contents of the report 
and consider the recommendations. 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. The Director of Public Health has a duty to prepare an annual report on the 
health of the people of Southampton, and the council has a duty to publish his 
report under section 73B(5) & (6) of the National Health Service Act 2006, 
inserted by section 31 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012). 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

2. None 

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

3. The Director of Public Health Annual Report 2018/19, “Tip of the Iceberg: 
Harm related to illicit drugs”, focusses on drugs that are used illegally and the 
harms they cause. It does not discuss the harms caused by legal drugs, such 
as alcohol and tobacco, or prescription drugs that are being abused by the 
people they were prescribed for. Different drugs have very different effects, 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



are associated with very different levels of risk, and are used in different 
situations by different groups of people. Most people who use drugs will do so 
infrequently and not develop a serious drug habit. However, some people do 
develop a drug use disorder, which can come with serious health and social 
consequences. 

4. The Director of Public Health elected to explore the topic of drug related harm 
specifically in 2018/19 due to levels of drug related problems observed in both 
cities. Portsmouth and Southampton are both relatively deprived – in the 4th 
most deprived decile of local authorities and both have pockets with much 
higher levels of deprivation. In Portsmouth for example, 13% of small areas 
are in the most deprived 10% of small areas in England. Looking within the 
cities there is evidence for the association between deprivation and 
problematic drug use as significantly more people who are admitted to 
hospital with problems related to drug use live in more deprived areas. 

5. The illicit and secretive nature of drug use means it is difficult to make any 
firm conclusions on how it is changing. There may be many more people 
using drugs than we know about who are not admitting use; it is possible that 
the drug use we are aware of is the tip of the iceberg.  

6. The report explores patterns of drug use, factors which contribute to 
problematic drug use, the provenance of drug use, health and wider harms, 
the debate around illegality and alternatives to current drugs policy, what we 
are currently doing to address drug harm and recommendations for what 
could be done differently.  

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital/Revenue  

7. None 

Property/Other 

8. None  

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

9. The Director of Public Health has a duty to prepare an annual report on the 
health of the people in the area of the local authority, and the local authority 
has a duty to publish the report under section 73B(5) & (6) of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 , inserted by section 31 of the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012. The content and structure of the report is decided locally. 

Other Legal Implications:  

10. This is a completely independent report and opinions within it only represent 
those of the former Director of Public Health for Portsmouth and Southampton 
unless quoted as otherwise. 

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

11. Any recommendations adopted by the Health and Wellbeing Board, Council 
or other bodies should be considered in a risk management context and steps 
to respond to recommendations will be reviewed within that organisation’s risk 
management framework.  

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 
Page 6



12. The recommendations in this report should be considered in the context of the 
Southampton Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2017-2025.  

 

KEY DECISION?  No 

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED:  

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 

Appendices  

1. Director of Public Health Annual Report 2018/19: “Tip of the Iceberg: Harm 
related to illicit drugs”. 

Note: the appended version of the report is in draft format. A final version of the report 
will be published at https://data.southampton.gov.uk/ in due course.  

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1. None 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and 

Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out. 

No 

Data Protection Impact Assessment 

Do the implications/subject of the report require a Data Protection  
Impact Assessment (DPIA) to be carried out.   

No 

Other Background Documents 

Other Background documents available for inspection at: 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules / 
Schedule 12A allowing document to 
be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) 

1.   

2.   

 

Page 7

https://data.southampton.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 

  

Harm related to illicit drugs 

Director of Public 
Health for 
Portsmouth and 
Southampton Annual 

Report 2018/19 

The tip of the iceberg 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



 

2 
 

Thanks to Adam Holland for his work on the report with: 

James Hawkins  

Vicky Toomey  

Alan Knobel 

Colin McAllister 

Claire Currie 

Lisa Wills 

Charlotte Matthews 

Rob Anderson-Weaver 

Mark Sage

 

 

Thank you to the following who provided data, information or photos: 

Paul Barton 

Christopher Fox 

Mike Taylor 

Nina Driscoll 

Michael Ellis 

Danny Sullivan 

Chantelle Knight 

Sam Graves 

Emma Richards 

Cathy Price 

Gail Lennan 

Alison Jeffery 

Prun Bijral 

Danny Sullivan 

Duncan Fortescue-Webb 

Richard Povey 

Aoife Fortescue-Webb 

James Clay

 

 

Front cover illustration by Christopher Sutherland 

 

 

  

 

Page 10



 

3 
 

Contents 

 

Director's introduction          4 

Executive summary          5 

Chapter 1 - Patterns of drug use        13 

Chapter 2 - Factors that lead people to use drugs problematically  16 

Chapter 3 - Prevalence of drug use       28 

Chapter 4 - The health harms from drugs      32 

Chapter 5 - The wider harms from drugs      39 

Chapter 6 - Why are some drugs illegal?      44 

Chapter 7 – What are the alternatives to current drugs policy?  53 

Chapter 8 - What we are doing to reduce drug related harm and  

what more can we do?          59 

Chapter 9 - Conclusion - who needs to do what?     70 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 11



 

4 
 

Director's Introduction 

 

Introduction from Jason Horsley to be included here. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 12



 

5 
 

Executive Summary 

 

Chapter 1 - Patterns of drug use 

 This report focusses on drugs that are used illegally and the harms they cause. It does not 

discuss the harms caused by legal drugs, such as alcohol and tobacco, or prescription drugs 

that are being abused by the people they were prescribed for.  

 There are many illegal drugs that have very different effects and levels of risk associated with 

them. 

 Most people who use illegal drugs do so infrequently and will not develop a problematic drug 

habit. 

 

Chapter 2 - Factors that lead people to use drugs  problematically 

 People who use drugs problematically often also suffer with mental health problems, have 

experienced adverse childhood experiences and come from deprived backgrounds. These 

four issues often exist together creating a complex set of health and social care needs.   

 In the case of mental health problems, the cause of the association is often unclear. In some 

cases, people with pre-existing mental health problems could be self-medicating with drugs. In 

others, drugs may be causing or exacerbating the mental health problems. And in others the 

person may have predisposing factors, which make them more likely to develop both mental 

health problems and a problematic drug habit. Mental health services locally and nationally are 

under significant strain.  

 Adverse childhood experiences are episodes of direct abuse or other problems in the 

environment that somebody grew up in, which are associated with a host of poor health and 

social outcomes in later life, including a greater likelihood of developing a drug use disorder. 

Universal and targeted services which support families play a vital role in preventing these 

experiences from occurring and dealing with them when they do.  

 Nationally and locally there is a clear association between deprivation and problematic drug 

use. It is not clear why this is the case, but the psychology of scarcity may play a role. When 

somebody is using all of their focus to think about how they can afford to pay their rent or pay 

for their next meal they have less brain space to think about longer term decisions and living 

healthily. Some research also shows an association between inequality and problematic drug 

use, suggesting that the state of society more broadly may play a role.  

 The introduction of Universal Credit has made the lives of some vulnerable people in the UK 

more difficult. Central and local government have work to do in order to mitigate the negative 

effects of the change to the benefits system.  

 The association between deprivation and problematic drug use is seen most obviously 

amongst people who are homeless. Homelessness in the UK is increasing. The 

Homelessness Reduction Act has been introduced to combat this trend, but most importantly 

more housing is needed - particularly social housing.  

 A drug use disorder is not the diagnosis, it is a symptom of other problems. 

 

 

 

 

Page 13



 

6 
 

Chapter 3 - Prevalence of drug use   

 Because of the illicit nature of drug use, it is difficult to know how many people are using drugs.  

 According to the Crime Survey for England and Wales, in 2017/18 one in eleven adults aged 16 

to 59 and one in five adults aged 16 to 24 had taken an illegal drug in the last 12 months. 

Generally, the survey shows that drug use has decreased over the last two decades, but in 

recent years the amount of 16-24 year olds reporting drug use has increased.  

 Data on the amount of drug use locally is not available. Extrapolating from the national data, we 

can estimate that there are 26,900 16-59 year olds in Portsmouth and Southampton who used 

an illegal drug in the last year. This is a very rough estimate as drug use is not uniform across 

the country.   

 People who use crack cocaine or opiates are unlikely to respond to surveys as the use of these 

drugs is often associated with more chaotic lifestyles. In the case of these drugs, the number of 

people using them is estimated based on data from services including drug treatment providers 

and the police. These estimates suggest that the number of people using crack cocaine and 

opiates are increasing nationally, but locally numbers are more or less stable. As these 

estimates are based on the number of people who have been in contact with services, we 

cannot be sure that the number of people who have never been in contact with services is not 

increasing. 

 Nationally, the number of people in specialist drug treatment has decreased over the last five 

years. Locally we have seen a similar picture, however numbers have increased in 2018/19 

bucking the national trend (this data will be published later this year). Nonetheless, numbers are 

still lower than they were five years ago. This decrease is disproportionate with our best 

estimates of the number of people using drugs problematically, suggesting that there is an 

increasing number of people using drugs problematically who are not in contact with specialist 

services. 

 

Chapter 4 - The health harms from drugs  

 The use of different illicit drugs comes with very different levels of risk.  

 Heroin and other opiates are responsible for by far the greatest proportion of drug related deaths 

locally, nationally and internationally.  

 The UK national drug related death rate is amongst the highest in Europe, with about one third of 

all the drug related deaths that occurred in Europe in 2017 occurring in the UK. In 2018, England 

and Wales saw the highest number (4,359) and greatest annual increase (16% more than in 

2017) of deaths from drug poisoning on record.  

 Portsmouth and Southampton have drug related death rates that are higher than the English 

average and amongst the highest in the South East. The local rates have increased over the last 

decade but improved slightly in the last couple of years.  

 There are many factors that may be contributing to the drug related death rate being so high in 

the UK. These include increasing drug purity, people who are using drugs getting older, and 

increasing budget pressures for drug treatment and other services. The substance misuse budget 

in Southampton has remained roughly the same since 2013 but in Portsmouth it has decreased 

by 38%. 

  

 

 

Page 14



 

7 
 

Chapter 5 - The wider harms from drugs  

 There are many indirect harms from drug use that can affect the person using drugs, their friends 

and family and wider society. 

 People using drugs may be indirectly harmed by their drug use if they for example, get a criminal 

record, or if it effects their personal or professional relationships. 

 The families and friends of people who use drugs may be indirectly harmed by their drug use if it 

for example, leads to them falling into debt or if children suffer adverse childhood experiences as 

a result of their parents’ drug use.   

 Wider society is harmed through being the victims of crime related to drugs (typically theft to fund 

an addiction), or through criminal networks being funded through income from drugs.  

 The ability to effectively police crime is harmed by the war on drugs: 

o Criminals are encouraged to be increasingly violent to reduce the risk of communities 

cooperating with the police. 

o Communities trust the police less because interventions like stop and search, which are 

needed to prevent weapon carriage, are likely to detect drug carriage which the 

community may consider a lesser threat.  

 In 2014, the National Treatment Agency estimated that illegal drug use costs UK society £15.4 

billion each year – this includes the cost of drug related crime and costs to services such as the 

NHS, police and courts.  

 County lines dealing, where inner-city gangs deal drugs in other cities and rural areas is being 

recognised as more of an issue as the UK drug market evolves. It is associated with the 

exploitation and abuse of vulnerable people who are used in drug trafficking networks, including 

children, people with learning difficulties and people who are dependent on drugs.  

 It is estimated that the global illicit drug market is worth $652 billion – this is more than the gross 

domestic product of all but the 20 richest countries.  

      

Chapter 6 - Why are some drugs illegal?   

 Drug use has not always been considered an issue of criminal justice. Drug policy in the UK and 

internationally has been strongly influenced by USA foreign policy and the ‘War on Drugs’ waged 

by presidents Nixon and Reagan, which was arguably fuelled more by political motivations than 

evidence it would work.  

 The level of harm caused by different drugs does not correlate with their legal status.  

 There is not clear evidence that the illegality of drugs decreases demand for them. Amongst 

European Union countries, there is not an obvious relationship between more punitive drug 

policies and lower drug use. And countries who have decriminalised drugs have not seen 

skyrocketing drug use as some predicted. A recent international study found that adolescent 

males in countries with prohibition were actually more likely to have tried cannabis than in 

countries with more liberal drug laws, perhaps because of a desire to rebel against authority.  

 There is not clear evidence that the law stops the supply of drugs. The sale of illicit drugs 

provides a massive profit margin that can easily absorb the cost of drugs that are seized by 

authorities.  The profits involved incentivise corruption and innovation, which has led to the 

emergence of county lines dealing and drugs being sold on the dark web. If the war on drugs had 

been successful, the price of illicit drugs would have increased, making them unaffordable – this 

has not happened, and some drugs are actually getting cheaper.  

 There is not clear evidence that the law helps people who are using drugs. Contact with the 

criminal justice system is associated with a host of poor outcomes, and even in prison more than 

Page 15



 

8 
 

a quarter of inmates report using drugs. Punitive drug policy can encourage riskier behaviours as 

people using drugs try to avoid detection and do not seek help when they need it. Strikingly 

nearly all European Union countries where it is not possible to be imprisoned for the possession 

of drugs have drug related death rates that are below the European average.  

 

Chapter 7 – What are the alternatives to current drugs policy?  

 Many countries have some element of decriminalisation, so that possession of drugs for personal 

use is not considered an issue of criminal justice.  

 Notably, Portugal decriminalised the possession of drugs for personal use in 2001. Since then 

surveys suggest that the recent use of cocaine, amphetamines and ecstasy has decreased. 

Cannabis use has increased but this is in line with neighbouring countries. According to the best 

available data, drug related deaths have decreased notably but it is difficult to say for sure as the 

way that they are recorded has changed. The drug related death rate in the UK is about 17 times 

higher than that in Portugal, however drug related deaths are not recorded in the same way in 

both countries and numbers are not directly comparable. HIV infection rates in Portugal have also 

decreased significantly. 

 Decriminalisation is less likely to address the harms caused by the criminal organisations who 

sell drugs and the illicit nature of the drug market. An alternative to decriminalisation would be to 

regulate drugs, with the government overseeing their production and distribution. This would 

allow control to be exerted over their strength, constituents, the mandatory harm reduction advice 

that would need to be provided at point of sale and their price with taxes being raised from the 

market to invest back into society. Inevitably, a black market would still exist alongside a 

regulated market, but any proportion of the market that could be wrestled from criminals could 

decrease their profits and any associated criminality. The influence of businesses that might profit 

from the sale of drugs would need to be strictly limited with regulations around advertising, 

packaging and the way that drugs would be distributed as is the case with cigarettes. 

 The Psychoactive Substances Act 2016 made the sale of novel psychoactive substances such as 

spice illegal. Initially, following its introduction there was a reduction in the number of deaths 

related to novel psychoactive substances. However, their use became concentrated amongst 

more vulnerable groups, such as people who are homeless and prisoners and in 2018 there was 

the highest number of deaths related to novel psychoactive substances on record – even higher 

than before the introduction of the Psychoactive Substances Act 2016. This highlights that 

increasingly strict prohibition is not effective in reducing drug related harm. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 16



 

9 
 

Chapter 8 - What we are doing to reduce drug related harm and what more can we do?  

 Reducing the use of drugs, particularly those that are more dangerous such as heroin and 

cocaine is an important aim for a drug strategy, but some level of drug use is inevitable in society 

without a level of authoritarian control that is incompatible with basic British values. Accordingly, 

approaches to reduce the risk people expose themselves to when they use drugs and to support 

people who are dependent on drugs or in recovery are also vitally important. Although harm 

reduction measures are mentioned, these could be significantly strengthened in the UK Home 

Office drug strategy. Given the harm and costs accruing to health, it would be prudent for The 

Department of Health to have ownership of future drug strategies.  The Home Office would still 

have a supporting role to play in relation to combating the illegal drug market.  

 Important measures locally that aim to reduce problematic drug use and mitigate the factors that 

make it more likely include:  

o PSHE in schools 

o Services that work with families and children to prevent adverse childhood experiences  

o Young peoples’ substance misuse champions  

o The benefits system 

 More work is needed by central government to ensure that the funding for services that support 

families and young people is strengthened and to address the problems that have become 

apparent with Universal Credit. Additionally, an evidence based national PSHE curriculum would 

be helpful. In the interim the onus is falling on local authorities to address these issues with the 

limited resources they have available.  

 Important harm reduction measures locally include needle syringe programmes and take-home 

naloxone services, but more work needs to be done to evaluate their coverage. In other 

countries, drug consumption rooms exist where people can use drugs in a safe environment and 

access health and social support services. There is promising evidence in their favour but in the 

UK the Home Office has stated that drug consumption rooms cannot function under existing 

legislation. In terms of club drugs, in other areas there are drug checking and harm reduction 

outreach services. Although historically there were local outreach services, these have been 

reduced significantly and work is needed to address this gap.  

 Structured treatment for people using opiates has been shown to be beneficial for those in 

treatment, and wider society. Locally, and nationally, the proportion of people using opiates who 

are not in treatment is increasing and work needs to be done to reverse this trend. There are 

promising interventions being used elsewhere in the country we could consider locally, particularly 

heroin assisted therapy, and also contingency management. Other services are under strain, 

including mental health services and the NHS so opportunities to help people using drugs 

problematically may be being missed. Neither city has a dedicated hospital liaison service for drugs 

other than alcohol, and work is needed to assess what the demand for this would be. 

 

Chapter 9 - Conclusion - who needs to do what?  

 Enforcing current drug policy is expensive and is likely exacerbating and causing more harm than 

it is preventing. Decriminalising or regulating drugs will not entirely stop drug related harm, but it 

is likely to help, and in the first instance it makes sense to stop spending money and energy on 

efforts that are hampering progress.  

 The key recommendations from the report follow – see the full version of the report for more 

details and rationale. 

 

Page 17



 

10 
 

Central government should: 

 Decriminalise the possession of drugs and investigate models of drug regulation. 

 Ensure that the Department for Health oversees future drug strategies, which should have harm 

reduction as a key tenet.  

 Monitor the impact of the Homelessness Reduction Act, while pursuing further efforts to reduce 

homelessness, particularly by ensuring that more affordable and social housing is built.  

 Strengthen the progressive taxation system to reduce deprivation and inequality and provide 

funding for important services.  

 Address the problems with Universal Credit. 

 Provide adequate funding for local authority Public Health teams in order for them to be able to 

adequately fund drug treatment services and other interventions to reduce drug related harm.  

 Mandate the provision of comprehensive drug treatment services.  

 Look into providing central funding for evidence based treatments that are currently under-

utilised. 

 Clarify the law to allow drug consumption rooms to be established, and in the meantime allow 

local services to negotiate working agreements to allow them to function. 

 Grant licenses and provide funding for publicly accessible drug checking services, and remove 

the obstacles preventing drug checking at festivals. 

 Ensure adequate funding is available for early help and social care services. 

 Ensure adequate funding is available for mental health services. 

 Commission the development of an evidence based national PSHE curriculum.  

 

Local authorities should: 

 Continue to ensure they have strategic oversight of local efforts to reduce drug related harm. 

 Lobby central government to decriminalise the possession of drugs, investigate models of drug 

regulation, and provide adequate funding for important local services.  

 Do their best to adequately resource drug treatment services. 

 Assess the demand for hospital liaison and drug outreach services. 

 Assess the local demand for drug consumption rooms and consider their introduction when the 

law allows.  

 Assess the demand for drug checking services and consider their introduction. 

 Ensure safety advisory groups are not providing an obstacle to the provision of harm reduction 

measures at music events, and instead promote their adoption when drug use is likely at an 

event.  

 Do their best to mitigate the negative impacts of the introduction of Universal Credit. 

 

Police and Crime Commissioners should: 

 Provide funding for measures promoting harm reduction and recovery, with longer term outcomes 

in mind. 

 

 

 

Page 18



 

11 
 

Drug treatment services should: 

 Continue to monitor changes in local drug trends and work with local authorities to ensure local 

services are responding to evolving needs. 

 

Police and courts should: 

 As far as possible utilise community resolution outcomes in cases of drug possession. 

 

Mental health services should: 

 Continue working to establish the best way to treat people with a dual diagnosis of mental 

health and substance misuse issues and to break down the barriers stopping people from 

accessing treatment. 

Medical practitioners should: 

 Continue their hard work promoting healthy behaviours and harm reduction; treating medical and 

mental health problems related to drug use and advocating for evidence based drug policy.  

 Be familiar with the NEPTUNE Guidelines for managing medical issues related to drug use. 

 

Colleges and Universities should: 

 Ensure they are promoting harm reduction messaging - not just messages focusing on 

abstinence, which may be less effective for some groups. 

 Consider more intensive harm reduction education when issues with drug use have been 

identified, for example open access anonymous harm reduction workshops. 

 

Schools should: 

 Adopt evidence based PSHE programmes. 

 Ensure that they do not utilise unregulated external organisations to provide PSHE lessons that 

are not endorsed by the PSHE association or the local authority.  

 

Festivals and night life venues should: 

 Ensure staff members are trained in drug awareness and know what to do in a drug related 

emergency. Staff should be aware of and have access to guidelines on when to call an 

ambulance – see the full version of the report for a link to these guidelines. 

 At larger events, ensure the adequate provision of welfare, outreach and drug checking services 

and the widespread promotion of harm reduction advice.  

 Be aware of the potential unintended negative consequences of supply reduction measures and 

utilise them with care. 

 Be familiar with the further guidance available – Safer Dancing and Safer Nightlife, which are 

referenced in the main report.  

Page 19



 

12 
 

People who are using or thinking about using drugs should: 

 Know that taking drugs is never safe and the best thing you can do is not take them. If you 

are still going to take drugs you should: 

 Do your research.  

o Follow the harm reduction advice that organisations such as the Loop provide. 

o Find out about the drug you are thinking of taking and decide whether the risks are 

worth it.  

o Be aware that not much research has been done on drugs, so sometimes information 

online may not be based on good evidence.  

 Make sure your drug taking doesn’t harm other people. Don’t take drugs in front of your 

children; don’t take them if you’re pregnant, if you have to steal to afford them or if you’re 

driving; if you find you are more likely to engage in violent or criminal behaviour when you take 

drugs then you need to get help. 

 Seek help if your drug use is causing problems. You can speak to your GP or contact local 

services – the contact details for Portsmouth and Southampton services are available in the full 

version of the report. If you are acutely unwell, you should always go to A&E. 

 

 

 

 

 

We know what we are doing isn’t 

working.  

 

It’s time for a different approach. 

  

Page 20



 

13 
 

Chapter 1 - Patterns of drug use 

 

Different people use the term 'drug' to mean different things. For the purposes of this report, 

a drug is considered to be a substance that has a physiological effect on the body and often 

affects how a person feels. There are many different drugs that people use for non-medical 

purposes - some are shown in the 'drugs wheel' below, split up into the different types of 

effect they have (Figure 1.1). 

 

Figure 1.1 – The Drug Wheel demonstrating some of the legal and illegal drugs currently in 

circulation (1)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

The outer ring contains substances controlled in the UK under the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971 or the Human Medicines 

Regulations 2012. The middle ring contains substances controlled under the Psychoactive Substances Act 2016. The inner ring 

contains legal drugs 

Page 21



 

14 
 

This report focuses on drugs that are used illegally and the harm that they cause. Legal 

drugs include alcohol, tobacco, caffeine, and many controlled substances when they are 

used under specific circumstances with a prescription.  

Some prescription medications, particularly opiate painkillers can lead to dependence and 

health problems even when they are used by the people they are prescribed for. The extent 

of the harm they are causing is only recently being understood and recognised at an 

international level. This problem is probably greater in the USA where more opiates are 

prescribed inappropriately, but it is certainly a significant issue for the UK (2). Interestingly 

research has shown that the factors increasing the likelihood of prescribed opiate use are 

similar to those increasing the likelihood of problematic drug use, including mental health 

problems and tellingly deprivation (3).  

Different drugs have very different effects, are associated with very different levels of risk, 

and are used in different situations by different groups of people. Most people who use drugs 

will do so infrequently and not develop a serious drug habit (Figure 1.2). However, some 

people do develop a drug use disorder, which can come with serious health and social 

consequences. 

 

Figure 1.2 - Estimated number of people using drugs in England and Wales based on the 

2017 ONS mid-year population estimate and results from the Crime Survey for England and 

Wales (4) (5) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

It is estimated that…. 

Page 22



 

15 
 

The likelihood of developing problematic drug use depends on the type of drug being used. 

Heroin and cocaine for example are highly addictive drugs, which people often become 

dependent on. Other drugs, such as magic mushrooms are more likely to be used 

recreationally and infrequently. (6) (7). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

There is very little correlation between the legality of a drug and the harm it causes, with 

alcohol and tobacco causing more harm than most illegal drugs. Chapter 6 – ‘Why are some 

drugs illegal?’ discusses the legal status of drugs in more detail. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Over one third of those that required specialist drugs treatment in 

Europe in 2018 were people using heroin and 63% of them reported 

daily heroin use (6). 

 

Respondents to the Global Drugs Survey 2018 who had taken magic 

mushrooms took them on average 4.3 times in 12 months (7). 

. 

 

Page 23



 

16 
 

Chapter 2 - Factors that lead people to 

use drugs problematically 

 

Some people are naturally more likely to use drugs because of their genes (8) and personality 

traits (9). Research in this area may be helpful to facilitate earlier identification of people at 

risk of using drugs problematically, which could help direct prevention efforts. However, 

genes and personality are difficult or impossible to influence. If our focus is on reducing drug 

related harm, we need to primarily consider circumstances we can change.  

 

Most people who try drugs have opportunities and support structures that 

protect them from developing a problematic drug habit (10). 

 

People who use drugs problematically often live with deprivation and mental health problems 

and had adverse experiences in childhood. Sometimes drug use is the cause of these 

problems but often it is the result. These problems are often closely related; when somebody 

has one of them, they are more likely to have others leading to a complex combination of 

health and social care needs that cannot be considered in isolation (Figure 2.1).  

 

Figure 2.1 - A Venn diagram of the associations between problematic drug use and its key 

drivers 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Problematic 

drug use 

Deprivation 
Adverse 

childhood 

experiences 

Mental health 

problems 

Page 24



 

17 
 

Mental health issues 

41% of people entering specialist drugs treatment nationally in 2017/18 were 

identified as having a mental health treatment need. 

 

In Southampton the situation is similar to the national picture - 39% - and in Portsmouth, the 

proportion was even higher at 49%.  

Various mental health conditions are associated with problematic drug use. The nature of 

these associations is not always clear. Sometimes, drugs may be the cause of mental health 

problems. In other instances, people with pre-existing mental health problems could be self-

medicating with drugs. And some people might have a shared pre-disposition that makes 

them more likely to both develop mental health problems and to use drugs problematically 

(Figure 2.2).  

 

Figure 2.2 - The potential relationships between drug use and mental health issues 

 

 

Despite there being guidance against it, some mental health services require that people 

with a dual diagnosis of mental health problems and substance misuse stop using drugs 

before providing psychiatric support. Often, this is not feasible. Work has been done in this 

area but there is still much more to do. Mental health services are under strain across the 

country with long waiting times and limited access to evidence based treatments; even when 

dual diagnosis is not a barrier it is likely that not everyone is getting help when they need it 

(11). 

 

 

 

Page 25



 

18 
 

Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) 

ACEs are stressful experiences during childhood; either direct abuse or factors that impact 

on the environment the child is growing up in (Figure 2.3).  

 

Figure 2.3 - The different types of ACE (12) 

Child maltreatment: 

Verbal abuse    Physical abuse   Sexual abuse 

 

Issues in childhood household: 

Parental separation   Domestic abuse   Mental illness 

Alcohol abuse   Drug use   Incarceration 

 

People who suffer ACEs when they are young are more likely to use drugs and have poor 

health and social outcomes. In a Welsh study, people who had suffered 4 or more ACEs 

were (12): 

 11 times more likely to have smoked cannabis 

 14 times more likely to have been a victim of violence in the last year 

 15 times more likely to committed violence in the last year 

 16 times more likely to have used crack cocaine or heroin 

 20 times more likely to have been incarcerated 

 

The relationship between ACEs and drug use was demonstrated in interviews with people 

from the local area who had used drugs (13):  

 

 

 

 

It can be very difficult to deal with the consequences of ACEs after they have occurred, so it 

is vital that we try to prevent them happening in the first place. Early help services are 

incredibly important in this respect. This includes social care services, which provide 

assistance to families who are unable to maintain an environment suitable for children to 

grow up in and universal or targeted support services, which aim to help families avoid 

getting to that point. Our local services are working hard and doing fantastic work in a time of 

spending constraint. It is vital that funding for early help services is maintained and ideally 

strengthened at times such as these as investment not only reduces suffering, but also likely 

reduces costs for other services in the future.  

"All I've done is just take drugs . . . 

just so I don't have to think about it 

[abuse as a child]” 

"[I take drugs in order to] block out 

the pain from my childhood and 

other things" 

Page 26



 

19 
 

It is much less expensive to provide social care and family support services 

now than it will be to deal with the consequences of ACEs in the future, 

including costs to drug treatment services, the police and the NHS.   

 

Deprivation 

The link between deprivation and problematic drug use is well recognised (14). Looking 

nationally, local authorities with higher levels of deprivation have higher rates of people using 

drugs problematically (15) (Figure 2.4). (15) 

 

Portsmouth and Southampton are both relatively deprived - in the 4th most deprived decile of 

local authorities (15) and both have pockets with much higher levels of deprivation. In 

Portsmouth for example, 13% of small areas are in the most deprived 10% of small areas in 

England. Looking within the cities there is more evidence for the association between 

deprivation and problematic drug use as significantly more people who are admitted to 

hospital with problems related to drug use live in more deprived areas (Figures 2.5-2.6).  

Figures 2.7-2.10 show how rates of drug related hospital admissions vary between areas 

within both the cities, with some of the most deprived areas having the highest rates of drug 

related hospital admissions. With the data that are available when considering admissions 

due to poisoning it is not possible to accurately differentiate between admissions related to 

recreational drug use and accidental or intentional overdoses with prescription opiates, so 

both are included.  

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45

E
s
ti
m

a
te

d
 r

a
te

 o
f 

p
e
o
p
le

 u
s
in

g
 o

p
ia

te
s
 a

n
d
/o

r 
c
ra

c
k
 p

e
r 

1
0
0
0
 1

5
-6

4
 y

e
a
r 

o
ld

s

Index of Multiple Deprivation Score 2015

Figure 2.4 - The estimated rate of people using opiates and/or crack cocaine per 1000 
15-64 year olds (2016/17) and Index of Multiple Deprivation (2015) in English local 

authorities (15)

Legend 

Southampton 

Portsmouth 

Page 27



 

20 
 

Figure 2.5 - Hospital admissions for drug related mental and behavioural disorders in Portsmouth 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 2.6 - Hospital admissions for drug related mental and behavioural disorders in Southampton 

Males Females

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

1 - most
deprived

2 3 4 5 - least
deprived

1 - most
deprived

2 3 4 5 - least
deprived

Males Females

D
ir
e
c
tl
y
 s

ta
n
d
a
rd

is
e
d
 r

a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0

IMD 2015 England quintile

Sources: HDIS2 copyright (c) 2017, re-used with the permission of The Health & Social Care Information Centre. All rights reserved.; & ONS Mid-2015 to 

Directly age-standardised rates (per 100,000) and 95% confidence 

Portsmouth residents, 2015/16-2017/18 

Deprivation Source: England LSOA deprivation quintile, based on LSOA IMD 2015 England rank from Department of Communities and Local 

by IMD 2015 England deprivation quintile

Males Females

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

1 - most
deprived

2 3 4 5 - least
deprived

1 - most
deprived

2 3 4 5 - least
deprived

Males Females

D
ir
e
c
tl
y
 s

ta
n
d
a
rd

is
e
d
 r

a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0

IMD 2015 England quintile
Sources: HDIS2 copyright (c) 2017, re-used with the permission of The Health & Social Care Information Centre. All rights reserved.; & ONS Mid-2015 to 

Directly age-standardised rates (per 100,000) and 95% confidence intervals

Southampton residents, 2015/16-2017/18 

Deprivation Source: England LSOA deprivation quintile, based on LSOA IMD 2015 England rank from Department of Communities and Local 

by IMD 2015 England deprivation quintile

Page 28



 

21 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 2.7 

Figure 2.8 

Page 29



 

22 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

F
ig

u
re

 2
.9

 
F

ig
u

re
 2

.1
0

 

Page 30



 

23 
 

Homelessness 

The association between deprivation and problematic 

drug use is seen most profoundly in the homeless 

population. (16) (17) (18) 

 

(19) 

Aside from issues with substance misuse, people who are homeless are more likely to suffer 

with a host of physical, mental and social problems. It can be difficult to deliver care to this 

population for various reasons, for example it can be hard to contact them to arrange follow 

up appointments or for them to register with a GP if they don't have a fixed address.  

The number of people who are 

homeless in England has 

increased dramatically in recent 

years (19) (Figure 2.11). The 

government has recently 

instituted the Homelessness 

Reduction Act, which requires 

local authorities to take more 

steps to prevent homelessness in 

the hope of reversing this trend 

(20), however this doesn’t address 

the shortage of available social 

and affordable housing and the 

lack of resources required for 

local authorities to perform their 

duties. 

The biggest driver in the rise in 

homelessness is the decreasing 

affordability of private rented 

accommodation (21). Between 

2010 and 2017 the cost of accommodation 

increased three times faster than earnings across 

England. This has been compounded by changes to the 

benefits system, which have meant that people who are at risk of 

becoming homeless have received less help (21). 

 

 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

4500

5000

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Estimated 
number of 

rough sleepers

Year

Figure 2.11 - The estimated number of rough sleepers 
in England and the South East 2010-2017 (19)

South East England

In 2017 190 people who were homeless 

died from drug poisoning in England 

and Wales (32% of all deaths of people 

who were homeless) (17) 

In a 2016 survey in 

Portsmouth, 50% of rough 

sleepers were known to 

substance misuse services (18) 

 

In a 2017 survey in Southampton, 

31% of people rough sleeping 

and/or begging reported 

dependence on drugs (16) 

 

Page 31



 

24 
 

The benefits system 

A recent UN Special Rapporteur report on extreme poverty paints a damning picture of the 

current state of affairs in the UK (22). About one in five people in the UK live in absolute and 

relative poverty after paying for housing costs* (23) and levels of income inequality are above 

average and potentially the highest in Europe (24). The report notes the role of central 

government, suggesting that the social safety net has been “systematically and 

starkly eroded . . . significantly compromising its ability to help people escape 

poverty”. 

In 2013, the UK government began gradually rolling out Universal Credit, its flagship benefits 

reform. Problems with how the new system is being implemented, combined with significant 

reductions in the level of most working age benefits are negatively impacting many 

claimants. We are seeing these problems locally, and research from other areas raises 

similar issues (25). 

 Some claimants, particularly those that previously received severe disability benefits 

are finding that they receive less money under Universal Credit.  

 Claimants must wait five weeks, and in some cases longer when switching to 

Universal Credit, which may lead to them taking a Universal Credit Advance. This 

reduces their monthly entitlement for the following 12 months in most cases.  

 Previously, benefits were paid fortnightly, whereas Universal Credit is normally paid 

monthly. The difficulty for households moving from budgeting fortnightly to monthly 

increases the risk of claimants using forms of high cost credit such as payday loans 

to bridge the gap. For people who are addicted to drugs, having a months’ worth of 

money in one go can result in them spending money they need for housing and food 

on drugs.  

 Delays in payments are being caused by system errors, particularly in relation to 

housing costs.  

 The logistics of claiming are more difficult than before, with less assistance available 

due to reductions in funding for advice and support services.  

 Claimants describe a hostile and accusatory atmosphere when trying to claim 

benefits due to ill health or disability, and punitive sanctions being applied if they 

don’t meet the requirements of their Claimant Commitment.  

 

One claimant said:  

“It’s not right. I shouldn’t have to go to my daughter’s and depend on her for 

something to eat. It should be the other way around . . . It makes you feel so low, 

especially when you’ve got to go to the foodbanks. I don’t want to be like this for the 

rest of my life.” (25) 

 

 

*Absolute poverty is defined as having an income below 60% of inflation-adjusted mean income after paying for housing in a 

base year. Relative poverty is defined as having an income below 60% of the median income that year.  

Page 32



 

25 
 

Why is problematic drug use associated with deprivation? 

The association between deprivation and many health and social problems has long been 

recognised, but it is not always clear why they are related. Recent research on the 

psychology of scarcity, which explores how peoples’ thinking changes when they do not 

have enough of something has shed light on one contributory explanation (26). When 

somebody is using all their focus to think about a pressing issue, for example how they are 

going to afford their next meal, or how to pay the rent they cannot fully consider other 

aspects of their life. They are less likely to be thinking about the long term and living healthily 

might not be in the forefront of their mind. When put in an extremely stressful situation of 

scarcity many people in society might make decisions that they would not otherwise make, 

and do things that they would not otherwise do, such as using drugs problematically. 

Some research suggests that even if an area is not absolutely deprived, higher levels of 

inequality are associated with higher levels of drug use (27) (Figure 2.12). This suggests there 

might also be something about the interactions between people and their perceived relative 

positions in society that affects the likelihood of them using drugs problematically.    (27) 

 

Figure 2.12 - The association between prevalence of drug use and income inequality in a 

country (27) 

 

 

 

(28) 

 

Page 33



 

26 
 

 

This is Craig. His story is based on the life of a real person who lives locally. Despite 

the hard work of 15 different local services for children and adults he has had a 

difficult life and struggled with problematic drug use. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

Childhood – At just 5 months old 

services note that Craig is growing 

slowly and failing to thrive. He is 

neglected and physically abused by his 

father.  

Early teens - Craig starts running 

away from home and sleeping in a 

churchyard, telling the vicar he is too 

scared of his dad to go home. At age 

15 he is arrested for stealing and his 

parents refuse to collect him from the 

police station. He is excluded from 

school. 

Late teens – With few options 

and no guidance this is when 

Craig starts regularly using 

drugs. He continues stealing 

and has more encounters with 

the law. At age 19 he is living 

in a hostel, but when he gets a 

job, he loses his benefits, is 

evicted and becomes 

homeless. Early twenties – Craig is arrested 

again for stealing a sandwich. While 

he is being arrested, he assaults a 

police officer and security guard so 

is sent to prison. He is given 

treatment for his drug problems but 

is only there for 20 days. At age 21 

he is sectioned under the mental 

health act but doesn’t meet the 

threshold for treatment and is 

released soon after. Craig finds 

places to live, but it never lasts long 

as he misses rent payments, is 

evicted and once again becomes 

homeless. He continues stealing 

and starts dealing drugs. 

Now - Craig is 25 years old. He 

is homeless, dependent on 

drugs and has been to prison 

four times. He has complex 

physical and mental health 

needs and has no family 

support. Might we have made 

the same choices in his 

situation? 

Never accept a 

label in place of 

a story 

 

A video of Craig's story can be viewed on the 

Safer Portsmouth Partnership website  

http://www.saferportsmouth.org.uk/complex-needs/ (28) 

 

Case study – A life on course for drug dependence 

 

Page 34

http://www.saferportsmouth.org.uk/complex-needs/


 

27 
 

Conclusion 

 

People who use drugs problematically are often doing so in 

response to their traumatic childhoods and difficult lives. Drug use 

disorders are not the diagnosis; they are a symptom of other 

problems. 

 

It is impossible to prevent drug related harm without tackling the wider issues in society – 

absolute and relative deprivation, mental health problems and adverse childhood 

experiences. Besides problematic drug use, these issues are associated with a host of other 

problems, many of which are hidden – the problems we do see are likely the tip of the 

iceberg. 

Economic policy should utilise progressive taxation to reduce deprivation and inequality, and 

to provide adequate funding for children’s services that work with families to ensure that 

everyone has the best possible start in life, and adult services that provide support 

throughout peoples’ lives when they need it most.  

 

People who use drugs problematically require help to deal with the 

factors that predispose them to drug dependence rather than being 

punished for the situation they are in. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35



 

28 
 

Chapter 3 - Prevalence of drug use 
 

In 2017/18 one in eleven adults aged 16 to 59 and one in five adults 

aged 16 to 24 had taken a drug in the last 12 months (4). 

 

This is according to the results of the Crime Survey for England and Wales (CSEW). We can 

use the results of this survey to estimate how many people are using different drugs in 

Portsmouth and Southampton (Figure 3.1). This is a very rough estimate as in reality drug use 

is not uniform across the country.  

 

Figure 3.1 – The estimated number of people using different drugs in Portsmouth and Southampton 

 

 

Based on ONS 2017 mid-year population estimates, the proportion of people using drugs apart from opiate or crack cocaine from the 

2017 Crime Survey for England and Wales and PHE estimates of the number of people using opiates or crack cocaine in 2016/17 (4) 

(5) (29) 

It is estimated that…. 

Page 36



 

29 
 

According to the CSEW, drug use has generally 

decreased since 2000 but there has been a 

slight increase in the number of 16-24 year olds 

taking drugs since 2015 (Figure 3.2). 

It is possible that drug use is more common 

than surveys would suggest. It is likely that 

many people do not admit that they break the 

law, and people who use drugs heavily are 

unlikely to take part in surveys at all.  

The numbers in specialist treatment for drug use 

have decreased both locally and nationally over 

the last five years (Figure 3.3-3.4) although both 

cities have bucked the national trend and seen 

an increase in 2018/19 - the figures showing this 

will be published later in the year. Nonetheless, 

there are still less people in treatment than there 

were five years ago. 

Funding pressures have meant that less resources are 

available to provide drug treatment services (discussed 

further on page 37). This means that the changing 

numbers of people in treatment may be due to a 

decrease in service capacity rather than there being 

less people using drugs problematically who have a 

treatment need. An increasing proportion of people 

using drugs problematically are missing out on the 

benefits of treatment, which not only disadvantages 

them, but also wider society with increasing costs for 

healthcare, criminal justice and social services 

(discussed further on page 66). (30) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

2
0

0
1

/0
2

2
0

0
2

/0
3

2
0

0
3

/0
4

2
0

0
4

/0
5

2
0

0
5

/0
6

2
0

0
6

/0
7

2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
0

0
8

/0
9

2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

2
0

1
3

/1
4

2
0

1
4

/1
5

2
0

1
5

/1
6

2
0

1
6

/1
7

2
0

1
7

/1
8

P
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 (

%
)

Survey year

Figure 3.2 - The proportion of 16-24 and 16-59 
year olds in England and Wales that report using 
an illicit drug in the last 12 months 2001-2018 (4)

16-24 year olds 16-59 year olds

0

20000

40000

60000

80000

100000

120000

140000

160000

180000
N

u
m

b
e

r 
in

 t
re

a
tm

e
n

t

Year

Figure 3.3 - Over 18s in specialist 
substance misuse services in 
England from 2013-2018 (30)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

N
u

m
b

e
r 

in
 t

re
a
tm

e
n

t

Year

Portsmouth

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

N
u

m
b

e
r 

in
 t

re
a
tm

e
n

t

Year

Southampton

Figure 3.4 - Over 18s in specialist substance misuse services in 

Portsmouth and Southampton from 2013-2018 (30) 

 

Page 37



 

30 
 

Seizures of illicit drugs have decreased both 

locally and nationally over the last decade 

(Figure 3.5) but again this does not mean 

that drug use has decreased. It is more 

likely to represent a change in policing 

practices or a decrease in police resources 

to look for drugs rather than there being less 

drugs in circulation. (31) 

We know that surveys particularly 

underestimate crack cocaine and opiate use 

as the people who use these drugs often live 

chaotic lifestyles and are less likely to take 

part in research. For that reason estimates 

of people using crack cocaine and opiates 

are calculated using data from various 

sources, including police and treatment 

service data. Estimates suggest that numbers 

locally are fairly stable but in England overall 

they have increased by about 28,000 between 

2012/13 and 2016/2017 (Figure 3.6-3.7).  

Because these estimates are based on 

service use data it is not possible to rule out 

the existence of an increasing number of 

people using these drugs who are not in 

contact with services.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Light blue shaded areas 

represent 95% 

confidence intervals 

Figure 3.6 - The estimated number of people using crack 

cocaine and opiates in England from 2011-2017 (29) 

 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

D
ru

g
 s

e
iz

u
re

s
 p

e
r 

m
il

li
o

n
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n

Year

Figure 3.5 - Seizures of illicit drugs in England 
2006-2018 (31)

England Hampshire South East Region

260,000
270,000
280,000
290,000
300,000
310,000
320,000
330,000
340,000

N
u

m
b

e
r

Year

England

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

N
u

m
b

e
r

Year

Portsmouth

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

N
u

m
b

e
r

Year

Southampton

Figure 3.7 - The estimated number of people using crack cocaine and 

opiates in Portsmouth and Southampton from 2011-2017 (29) 

 

Page 38



 

31 
 

Conclusion 

The illicit and secretive nature of drug use means it is difficult to make any firm conclusions 

on how it is changing. There may be many more people using drugs than we know about 

who are not admitting use; it is possible that the drug use we are aware of is the tip of the 

iceberg. The number of people in specialist treatment for their drug use has fallen 

disproportionately compared to drug use estimates suggesting it's likely there is an 

increasing unmet need for treatment services.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(32)

Page 39



 

32 
 

Chapter 4 - The health harms from drugs 

The ways that different drugs work on the body vary and so they are harmful to health in 

different ways. Some health problems can occur quickly, even after one use; others become 

more likely or only occur with chronic use. The likelihood of harm can depend on various 

factors including dose and method of administration. Figure 4.1 below shows some, but no 

means all, of the ways that illicit drugs can be harmful to health. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Snorting drugs can lead to 

erosion of the nasal 

septum and loss of smell 

 

? 

MDMA and similar 

drugs - serotonin 

syndrome  

Stimulants such as cocaine 

and amphetamines can cause 

irregular heart rhythms and 

heart attacks 

Cocaine, 

amphetamines, 

PCP - strokes 

Smoked drugs 

exacerbate 

asthma 

Many drugs 

cause 

complications 

in pregnancy 

In overdose or 

withdrawal, 

various drugs 

can cause 

seizures 

Various drugs can 

cause liver damage 

and kidney failure 

Some drugs can cause a 

loss of consciousness 

and aspiration Opioids - 

respiratory 

depression 

Opioids - 

constipation 

There can be a 

high risk of injury 

whilst intoxicated, 

especially with 

hallucinogens or 

ketamine 

Some drugs like 

MDMA can cause 

dangerously high 

temperatures 

whereas GHB can 

cause hypothermia 

Many of the acute 

health harms 

become more 

likely with chronic 

use 

Most drugs are 

addictive and 

use can lead to 

dependence 

Smoked drugs can 

cause COPD and 

may be a risk factor 

for lung cancer 

Stimulant use can 

cause pulmonary 

hypertension 

Stimulants can cause 

aortic dissection 

Some drugs such as 

cocaine and opioids 

can cause dental 

erosions or decay 

Ketamine - 

Gastritis 

Heavy 

ketamine 

use can lead 

to bladder 

ulceration 

Sharing injecting and snorting 

paraphernalia can spread blood 

borne viruses such as HIV and 

hepatitis  

Nitrous 

oxide - 

anaemia 

Acute health harms 

from drug use 

 

Health harms from 

chronic drug use 

 

Various drugs, 

especially psychedelics 

can cause hallucinations 

and psychotic 

symptoms, which may 

be traumatic Various drugs 

can cause 

symptoms of 

depression or 

anxiety 

Drugs can cause changes 

in behaviour, which may 

make the person using 

them aggressive or cause 

them to do dangerous 

things that they would not 

do normally.  

There is some 

evidence that many 

drugs can cause long 

term changes in mood 

and behaviour. The 

strength of evidence 

depends on the drug 

and the symptom. 

For many drugs, 

especially novel 

psychoactive 

substances, there 

has not been enough 

research to know all 

the short and long 

term risks 

Drug use can reduce 

inhibitions leading to risky 

sexual behaviours, the risk 

of sexually transmitted 

infections and unplanned 

pregnancy. It can also raise 

questions about consent.  
Figure 4.1 – Some of the health harms from illicit drugs (32) 

Page 40



 

33 
 

In some cases, the effects of drugs can be serious or fatal – the risk of this varies hugely 

depending on the drug that is used. Attempts have been made to quantify the risk of death 

from different drugs using units called 'micromorts' with one micromort equating to a one in 

a million chance of dying (Figure 4.2). Although the use of some drugs like cannabis is less 

likely to lead to death, their other negative health effects should not be underestimated.   

 

Figure 4.2 – The estimated micromorts that the people in England and Wales who use 

cannabis and heroin are exposed to because of the drugs (33) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Drug related deaths 

Heroin and other opiates are responsible for more deaths than any other drugs in the UK, 

followed by cocaine and benzodiazepines (34) (Figure 4.3). Often in drug related deaths 

however, a cocktail of different drugs was taken at once.  

The drug related death rate in the UK is one of the highest in Europe; with about one third of 

all European drug related deaths in 2017 occurring in the UK (35) (Figure 4.4). And the 

situation is getting worse - in 2018, England and Wales saw the highest number and 

greatest annual increase of drug poisoning deaths on record (4,359 deaths, an increase of 

16% from 2017 (36)). For context, this is almost twice the number of people who died on UK 

roads in 2017 (although some people who died on the roads will also have had drugs in their 

system).  

Portsmouth and Southampton both have drug related death rates that are higher than the 

English average at a statistically significant level, and amongst the highest rates in the South 

East (37) (Figure 4.5). The rates in both cities have increased over the last decade but have 

improved slightly in the last couple of years (37) (Figure 4.6).  

 

 

 

6   
micromorts 

per year 

Cannabis is responsible for… Heroin is responsible for…. 

54 
micromorts 

per day  

Page 41



 

34 
 

(34) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PMA 1

Cathinones 16

Other NPS 22 GHB 27
Cannabis 22 Synthetic 

cannabinoids 60

MDMA 92

Amphetamine 100

Benzodiazepines
420

Cocaine
637

Opiates
2208

Figure 4.3 - The number of times illicit drugs were mentioned on death 
certificates in England and Wales in 2018 (34)

Figure 4.4 – Drug related deaths in the EU, Turkey and Norway in 2017 or from most recent 

data (35) 

Page 42



 

35 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 4.6 - Mortality rate per 100,000 population for deaths related to drug misuse in 

Southampton and Portsmouth 2001-2018 (37) 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

2
0
0
1
–
0
3

2
0

0
2
-0

4

2
0

0
3
-0

5

2
0

0
4
-0

6

2
0

0
5
-0

7

2
0

0
6
-0

8

2
0

0
7
-0

9

2
0

0
8
-1

0

2
0

0
9
-1

1

2
0

1
0
-1

2

2
0

1
1
-1

3

2
0

1
2
-1

4

2
0

1
3
-1

5

2
0

1
4
-1

6

2
0

1
5
-1

7

2
0
1
6
–
1
8

A
g

e
 s

ta
n

d
a
rd

is
e
d

 m
o

rt
a
li
ty

 r
a
te

Period

Portsmouth England

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

2
0
0
1
–
0
3

2
0

0
2
-0

4

2
0

0
3
-0

5

2
0

0
4
-0

6

2
0

0
5
-0

7

2
0

0
6
-0

8

2
0

0
7
-0

9

2
0

0
8
-1

0

2
0

0
9
-1

1

2
0

1
0
-1

2

2
0

1
1
-1

3

2
0

1
2
-1

4

2
0

1
3
-1

5

2
0

1
4
-1

6

2
0

1
5
-1

7

2
0
1
6
–
1
8

A
g

e
 s

ta
n

d
a
rd

is
e
d

 m
o

rt
a
li
ty

 r
a
te

Period

Southampton England

O
x
fo

rd
s
h

ire
2

.4

S
u

rre
y

2
.5

W
e
s
t B

e
rk

s
h

ire
2

.8

B
u

c
k
in

g
h

a
m

s
h

ire
3

W
e
s
t S

u
s
s
e

x
3

.4

M
ilto

n
 K

e
y
n

e
s

3
.5

H
a

m
p

s
h

ire
3

.9

S
o

u
th

 E
a

s
t

3
.9

K
e

n
t
4

.2

M
e

d
w

a
y

4
.4

E
n

g
la

n
d

4
.5

E
a

s
t S

u
s
s
e

x
5

.1

S
o

u
th

a
m

p
to

n
6
.5

R
e

a
d

in
g

7
.4

Is
le

 o
f W

ig
h

t
7

.5

P
o

rts
m

o
u

th
9

.1

B
rig

h
to

n
 a

n
d

 H
o

v
e

9
.7

Figure 4.5 - Age standardised mortality rate per 

100,000 population for deaths related to drug 

misuse 2016-18 in the South East (37) 

Blue shaded area represents 95% confidence intervals 

Page 43



 

36 
 

 

(38) (39) (40) (41) (42) (43) (44) (45) (46) (47) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(48) (49) (50) (51) (52) (53)

Box 1 - Club drugs and Mutiny festival deaths 

At Mutiny festival 2018 in Portsmouth two young people died after 

taking MDMA and more than 30 others attended hospital for drug 

related issues.  

 The average MDMA pill strength in Europe increased 138% 

between 2006 and 2016 from 83 mg/pill to 156 mg/pill (6). Pills 

tested in England have been found to contain more than 300mg of 

MDMA, double the European average (38).  

 Cocaine purity is at its highest level for over a decade (6). 

 People who use club drugs are often unable to tell when they have 

been sold a different drug to what they were expecting (37). 

Sometimes when people think they are buying MDMA they are 

actually buying more dangerous drugs such as N-ethyl-pentylone, 

which can cause insomnia and psychosis or PMA, which has a 

higher risk of serotonin syndrome and death (38). 

Young people who attend festivals and electronic dance music events 

may be more likely to take drugs than the general population (40) (41) (42) 

(43) (44) (45). It is likely that most of them will only use drugs for a small 

proportion of their lives, but sometimes this is long enough to have 

serious consequences.  

 

  

 

Box 2 - Fentanyl - an emerging threat 

Fentanyl has similar effects to morphine but is 50-100 times stronger, 

and related drugs such as carfentanil are even stronger. Drug 

manufacturers can increase the strength of heroin at little cost by mixing 

it with one of these drugs, which puts the person using the substance at 

a much higher risk of overdose. Fentanyl is sometimes also mixed with 

cocaine or can be used on its own. The USA is facing a 'fentanyl crisis' 

as fentanyl related deaths have risen dramatically over the last decade 

(46).  

In 2007 there were six deaths in England and Wales related to fentanyl 

and other closely related drugs. In 2018 there were 105 (34). This is still a 

relatively small proportion of opiate related deaths, but the trend is 

concerning.  

Also, it is very possible that this number is an underestimate as fentanyl 

is not routinely tested for by coroners and may be mistaken for other 

opiates (47). 

 

Page 44



 

37 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

B
u

d
g

e
t 

(£
m

il
li
o

n
s
)

Year

Figure 4.7 - Substance misuse treatment 
and prevention budget for Portsmouth and 

Southampton 2013-2020 (46)

Portsmouth Southampton

…maybe we've got the numbers wrong 

 Estimates of the number of people using opiates 

and crack cocaine are calculated with data from the 

police and other services. A smaller proportion of 

the people using opiates and crack cocaine could 

be being seen by services because of decreasing 

capacity while the number not being seen and 

therefore not being counted increases.   

 It is possible that reporting is improving, and 

coroners are getting better at identifying when a 

death is related to drug use (51).  

…the people using drugs are changing 

 Nationally, the average age of people dying in drug 

related deaths is increasing (53). Older people who 

use opiates may have been using drugs for a longer 

time, exposing themselves to more risk, and their 

bodies may be less able to deal with the side 

effects.  

 Homelessness is increasing. People who are 

homeless are more likely to have other medical 

problems and difficulties accessing healthcare. 

…the drugs are changing 

 The purity of heroin in circulation decreased in 2010 

but returned to previous more dangerous levels in 

2013/14, which correlated with increased heroin 

related deaths (6). 

 Cocaine and MDMA strength have increased 

dramatically over the last decade (Box 1, page 36). 

 Drugs are being cut with other more dangerous 

drugs, such as heroin being mixed with fentanyl 

(Box 2, page 36). 

 There has been an increase in the prescription of 

some medications, such as pregabalin and opioids 

(51). 

 

…the services are changing 

The resources available have decreased and services 

are under greater strain: 

 Since 2013 the substance misuse service budget in 

Southampton has remained roughly the same, but 

in Portsmouth it has decreased by 38% (48)  (Figure 

4.7). This has affected services in various ways, but 

in particular there has been a reduction in the 

amount of money available for rehab placements. 

 Various local authorities report that because of a 

lack of funding they are unable to comprehensively 

provide evidence based treatments for problematic 

drug use (49) . 

 Although the NHS budget has increased the NHS is 

facing greater demand and the rate at which the 

budget is increasing has slowed in recent years (50). 

…how people are taking drugs is changing 

 People may be mixing different illicit drugs together 

and with alcohol more. Different drugs may interact 

and become more dangerous when taken together 

in some circumstances (51). For example, when 

cocaine and alcohol are used together, they form 

cocaethylene in the body, which is more cardiotoxic 

than cocaine alone (52).  

…suicides are increasing 

 A Public Health England inquiry identified that the 

number of people using illicit drugs to commit 

suicide had increased (51). This could be 

compounded by the increasing strain on mental 

health services. 

Why have drug related deaths increased? 

The amount of people using drugs has not dramatically increased as far as we can tell so what has 

changed so that more people are dying? It may be because…. 

 

Page 45



 

38 
 

Conclusion 

Different drugs cause different health problems and come with different levels of risk. Many 

of the health risks associated with drugs are exacerbated by the fact that their production is 

not regulated, which means they may be excessively strong, or adulterated with other 

substances. Some health problems develop over time. In other instances, there might be 

disastrous consequences from using a drug only once. As with estimating the amount of 

drug use it is difficult to ascertain how much harm drugs cause as harm is likely 

underreported or not recognised as related to drug use. It is likely that the harm we are 

seeing is the tip of the iceberg. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 46



 

39 
 

Chapter 5 - The wider harms from 

drugs 

Drug use is associated with much more harm than the direct health effects of the drugs. The 

mind map on page 42 shows many of the ways that drugs might cause harm. Drugs related 

harm could affect…. 

 People using drugs - for example if their drug use leads to them getting arrested, 

losing their job, falling into debt, making unwise decisions or adds strain to their 

personal relationships. Becoming dependent on drugs can also make someone more 

vulnerable to being exploited. This is particularly important as people are forced into 

sex work or used to sell or traffic drugs by county lines dealers (see page 41). 

 The families and friends of people who use drugs - for example if their drug use 

is associated with domestic violence or if children are exposed to adverse childhood 

experiences related to their parents’ drug use. 

 Wider society - The Home Office in 2011 estimated that illicit drug use costs UK 

society £10.7 billion a year and the National Treatment Agency in 2014 estimated 

£15.4 billion (54) (55). A large proportion of these costs are due to drug related crime 

with other costs related to policing, health care and drug related deaths.  

 

Drugs and crime 

Drug use is associated with increased criminal activity in three ways: (56) (57) (58) (59) (60) (61) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. Crimes perpetrated by drug dealers 

Drug trafficking is defined in the UK as transporting, storing, importing, exporting, manufacturing or 

supplying drugs (53). It is a criminal offence that is orchestrated sometimes by organised gangs, or 

sometimes by individuals. Between 2017 and 2018 drug trafficking offences increased in Portsmouth and 

decreased in Southampton (Figure 5.1). This might represent changes in levels of police activity or 

reporting rather than changes in the illicit drugs market. 

Figure 5.1 - Drugs trafficking offences in Portsmouth and Southampton 

 

In the process of trafficking drugs criminals involved in the drugs trade may commit other offences including 

acts of violence and exploitation against other drug dealers and vulnerable people including children and 

people who are dependent on drugs who are forced to work for them (see page xx).  

20% of homicide suspects in England and Wales in 2017/18 were known to be drug 

dealers and 44% of homicides were somehow related to drugs (56). 

 

Page 47



 

40 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. Crimes perpetrated by people who use drugs 

People who are dependent on drugs may turn to crime to fund their habit. The Home Office estimated that 45% 

of acquisitive crime is committed by people who regularly use crack cocaine or heroin (54). 

The possession of drugs is itself a criminal offence. Whether this is the best way to try and reduce drug related 

harm is discussed in Chapter 6 - 'Why are some drugs illegal?' but enforcing the law costs the police and courts 

time and money. Between 2017 and 2018 drug possession offences increased in Portsmouth but were largely 

stable in Southampton (Figure 5.2).  Again, changes might be due to changing police activity or reporting rather 

than changes in the amount drugs used.  

 

Figure 5.2 - Drug possession offences in Portsmouth and Southampton 

 

Drugs can affect the way that the people who use them think and lead them to make decisions that they would 

not otherwise make. In some cases, this can make it more likely that they commit criminal acts. This may be 

more likely with certain types of drugs, anecdotally people using cocaine may be more prone to aggression and 

violence than people using other drugs. Figure 5.3 shows the crimes committed in Southampton and 

Portsmouth in 2016/17 and 2017/2018 that involved drugs.  

In 2017/18 in England and Wales 7% of drivers who had taken an illicit drug in the last 12 months who 

responded to the Crime Survey for England and Wales reported having driven under the influence of an illicit 

drug at least once that year (57). Using illicit drugs impairs the ability of the person taking them to drive safely and 

may make accidents more likely. It is unclear how many road traffic accidents are related to drug driving.  

1205

80310

22

208

45

443

55
221 27

Figure 5.3 - Offences that involved drugs in 
Southampton and Portsmouth in 2016/17 and 

2017/18

Violence

Sexual offences

Robbery, burglary,
theft, shoplifting
Vehicle offences

Criminal damage or
arson
Drugs trafficking

Drugs possession

Weapon
possession
Public order
offences
Miscellaneous

3. Other crime and terrorism funded by 

the illicit drugs trade 

The annual global illicit drug market is estimated to 

be worth up to $652 billion (58). Only twenty 

countries in the world had a gross domestic product 

greater than this in 2017 (59). As well as making 

criminals richer this money could be used to fund 

other criminal activities such as people trafficking 

and terrorism.  

It is not possible to be certain that terrorist 

organisations are funded by drug trafficking but the 

United Nations Security Council asserts that this is 

the case (60) and increased levels of drug trafficking 

have been shown to coincide with increased levels 

of terrorism in central Asia (61).  

People who are using drugs, even only occasionally 

should be aware of the wider harm that the drugs 

trade they are financing is associated with. 

 

Page 48



 

41 
 

Exploitation and county lines dealing 

Vulnerable people including children, people with learning disabilities and people dependent 

on drugs can be used by dealers to traffic or sell drugs. This has been seen increasingly in 

recent years with the recognition of county lines dealing. (62) (63) (64) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Exploitation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

experiment

The police 

estimate there are 

about 100 county 

lines operating in 

Hampshire, but the 

number fluctuates. 

 

The drugs trade in the UK is 

changing. Drug dealers from 

London and other cities are being 

found more and more to have 

operations in other cities and 

towns throughout the UK - so 

called 'county lines activity'. 

 

'County lines' activity is 

named for the phone 

lines that play an 

integral part of the 

operation; being used to 

arrange drug deals and 

advertise when drugs 

are available.  

 

County lines are 

normally operated by 

organised gangs, but 

in some cases are run 

by individuals. 

 

Drug sales can be 

performed either by: 

 'Commuting' - Travelling 

to and from another area 

in a day. 

 'Holidaying' - Spending 

several days in the 

target location. 

 'Cuckooing' - Where a 

base of operation is set 

up in the house of a 

vulnerable individual for 

weeks to months at a 

time. 

 

Vulnerable people; 

children, people with 

learning difficulties, adults 

with welfare needs, people 

who are dependent on 

drugs and isolated and 

vulnerable women can be 

used by gangs in both the 

home and target areas as 

drug runners or their 

houses used for cuckooing.  

 

People trying to recover from drug 

dependence describe being 

bombarded with text messages 

making it difficult to stay off drugs.  

 

They allow drug 

dealers to take 

advantage of gaps 

in the market and 

offer distance and 

anonymity.  

 

Vulnerable people can be 

persuaded to work with 

money and drugs, 

manipulated or 

threatened with violence.  

Victims have reported 

stabbings and other 

violent, sexual and 

mental abuse. 

 

Figure 5.4 - County Lines Activity - Information from (63) (62) (64) and discussions with local police. 

If you want to know more about county lines the Home Office has published guidance 

explaining some of the warning signs to look out for in people at risk (62) 

Page 49



 

42 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Some of the direct and indirect harms that drugs cause to people using them, their family and friends and wider society 

P
age 50



 

43 
 

Conclusion 

It is impossible to know how much of an impact drug use and the drugs market is having on 

the lives of people using drugs, the people they know and everyone else in society. It is likely 

the harm that we know about is the tip of the iceberg. Much of this harm is not a direct 

result of the use of drugs but related to their illegality and the criminal activity associated with 

the drugs market.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 51



 

44 
 

Chapter 6 - Why are some drugs 

illegal? 

Different people produce, sell and buy drugs. Legislation can be used to make each or all of 

these steps a criminal offence. Alternatively, it can be used to regulate the production and 

supply of drugs, for example with a licensing system, advertising bans and age limits on 

eligible customers.   

Drug laws vary in different countries and depend on the drug. In the UK: 

 Caffeine is regulated as a food ingredient. 

 Alcohol and tobacco have specific legislation to control their production and supply. 

 The possession of other psychoactive substances without a prescription is treated as 

a criminal offence.  

 

The history of UK drugs legislation 

Drug use has not always been considered a matter of criminal justice in the UK. In the early 

1900s legislation was introduced to control the use of heroin and cocaine and since then the 

scope of substances controlled has increased with subsequent legislation.  

UK drug policy is heavily influenced by international conventions; most notably the 1961 UN 

Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, which classifies drugs into schedules allegedly 

corresponding to the level of harm the drugs cause, although this isn't always accurate (65). 

This convention made its way into UK law as the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971, which put illegal 

drugs into classes A, B and C corresponding to the international schedules (Figure 6.1).  

 

Figure 6.1 – The classes of drugs in the UK and punishments for possession and supply/production (66) 

 

Class Examples Punishment for 
possession 

Punishment for 
supply/production 

A Heroin, cocaine, MDMA, LSD, magic 
mushrooms 

Up to 7 years in prison 
+/- unlimited fine 

Up to life in prison +/- 
unlimited fine 

B Cannabis, ketamine, amphetamines, 
cathinones, synthetic cannabinoids 

Up to 5 years in prison 
+/- unlimited fine 

Up to 14 years in prison 
+/- unlimited fine 

C GHB, benzodiazepines, piperazines Up to 2 years in prison 
+/- unlimited fine 

Up to 14 years in prison 
+/- unlimited fine 

 

 

 

Page 52



 

45 
 

The increasing use of novel psychoactive substances (NPS) not controlled under the Misuse 

of Drugs Act led to the creation of the Psychoactive Substances Act 2016, which makes it a 

criminal offence to possess or supply any substance deemed to have psychoactive 

properties, with a few exceptions including caffeine and alcohol (Figure 6.2). 

 

Figure 6.2 - Important milestones in UK drug policy 

 

The USA has had a notable influence on the trajectory of international drugs policy and the 

formation of the UN drug conventions. Over the last 120 years, to differing degrees, 

American administrations have advocated for drug prohibition and harsh punishments for 

drug possession at home and abroad. This was most obvious in the 'War on Drugs' waged 

by presidents Nixon and Reagan, which was arguably fuelled more by political motivations 

than by evidence it would work (67). 

Figure 6.3 - Richard Nixon meeting Elvis Presley whose drug use may have contributed to his death  

Page 53



 

46 
 

Levels of harm and legal status 

A panel of experts analysed the harm caused by selected drugs and found that the level of 

harm a drug is responsible for often does not correspond to its legal status. Alcohol was 

identified as the drug that causes most harm to society. Given that alcohol is legal, this 

suggests that current drugs policy is more a product of history and politics than evidence 

(Figure 6.4-6.5). It is worth noting that this study did not consider spice and other synthetic 

cannabinoids and opiates apart from heroin, both of which have a significant public health 

impact. 

Figure 6.4 - The harm to people who use drugs and others caused by selected illicit drugs, 

alcohol and tobacco as determined by multi criteria decision analysis by a panel of experts (68) 

 

Figure 6.5 - How the harm drugs cause corresponds to their legal classification (69) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54



 

47 
 

Why do we have prohibition? 

Enforcing prohibition based drugs policy is expensive, causes significant harm to the 

individuals who are charged with drug offences and causes harm to wider society as the 

drugs market is pushed underground providing a source of funding for criminal 

organisations. For it to be justified it would have to prevent more harm than it causes. Three 

important questions to try and answer when working out whether this is the case are: 

1. Does the law decrease the demand for drugs? 

2. Can the law stop the supply of drugs? 

3. Does the law help people who use drugs? 

 

 

1. Does the law decrease the demand for drugs? 

Various bodies have questioned the effectiveness of the law in discouraging drug use. The 

BMA pointed out that although the law likely dissuades some people from drug use, cultural 

factors and social norms may be more important (32). And the UK Police Foundation inquiry 

suggested that the law plays only a minor role in reducing the demand for drugs (70).  

It is difficult to know what things would be like in the UK if the drugs that are currently illegal 

were decriminalised or regulated but we can get some idea from looking at other countries 

where the law is different. According to a recent Home Office report there is 

no clear relationship between how strict a country's drug laws are and 

the level of drug use in that country (71). 

This can be seen in Figure 6.6, which shows the estimated proportion of 15-34 year olds in 

EU countries who have used cannabis, MDMA, amphetamines and cocaine in the last year 

and the countries' estimated rate of high risk opioid users. The bars that are green are 

countries in which it is not possible to be put in prison for possessing that drug. If threats of 

harsher punishments were effective in stopping people from using drugs the green bars 

would be clustered to the right of the graphs suggesting that drug use is higher in countries 

with more lenient laws - this is not the case.  

A recent study analysed the level of adolescent cannabis use and policy liberality across 38 

countries. It was found that countries with prohibition do not have less cannabis 

use to a statistically significant level. In fact, in countries with prohibition 

adolescent males were more likely to have tried cannabis; perhaps because of a 

desire to rebel against authority (72).   

Differences between the cultures and social norms of different countries make it impossible 

to make firm conclusions about the effect of drugs policies. More information can be gleaned 

by looking at what happens in countries when drug laws are relaxed. The organisation 

Release examined drug use prevalence in countries before and after drug possession was 

decriminalised. They found that in some areas drug use increased, in others it decreased but 

nowhere did drug use skyrocket as some predicted (73).  (74) 

 

 

Page 55



 

48 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

T
u

rk
e
y

H
u
n
g
a
ry

C
y
p

ru
s

G
re

e
c
e

R
o
m

a
n
ia

L
it
h

u
a
in

ia
S

w
e
d
e
n

P
o

rt
u
g
a

l
N

o
rw

a
y

S
lo

v
a
k
ia

P
o

la
n

d
L
u
x
e
m

b
o
u
rg

L
a
tv

ia
B

e
lg

iu
m

B
u

lg
a

ri
a

S
lo

v
e
n
ia

U
K

G
e
rm

a
n
y

F
in

la
n

d
E

s
to

n
ia

Ir
e
la

n
d

A
u

s
tr

ia
D

e
n
m

a
rk

N
e
th

e
rl
a

n
d
s

C
ro

a
ti
a

S
p

a
in

C
z
e

c
h
ia

It
a
ly

F
ra

n
c
e

% Cannabis

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

T
u

rk
e
y

R
o
m

a
n
ia

P
o

rt
u
g
a

l

C
y
p

ru
s

G
re

e
c
e

L
u
x
e
m

b
o
u
rg

L
a
tv

ia

B
e

lg
iu

m

S
lo

v
e
n
ia

P
o

la
n

d

It
a
ly

L
it
h

u
a
in

ia

A
u

s
tr

ia

S
lo

v
a
k
ia

G
e
rm

a
n
y

S
p

a
in

C
ro

a
ti
a

D
e
n
m

a
rk

N
o
rw

a
y

H
u
n
g
a
ry

E
s
to

n
ia

F
ra

n
c
e

F
in

la
n

d

U
K

B
u

lg
a

ri
a

C
z
e

c
h
ia

Ir
e
la

n
d

N
e
th

e
rl
a

n
d
s

% MDMA

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

P
o

rt
u
g
a

l

T
u

rk
e
y

C
y
p

ru
s

R
o
m

a
n
ia

L
u
x
e
m

b
o
u
rg

It
a
ly

P
o

la
n

d

L
it
h

u
a
in

ia

N
o
rw

a
y

B
e

lg
iu

m

Ir
e
la

n
d

L
a
tv

ia

U
K

F
ra

n
c
e

S
lo

v
a
k
ia

S
lo

v
e
n
ia

A
u

s
tr

ia

S
p

a
in

H
u
n
g
a
ry

D
e
n
m

a
rk

C
z
e

c
h
ia

B
u

lg
a

ri
a

G
e
rm

a
n
y

C
ro

a
ti
a

F
in

la
n

d

E
s
to

n
ia

N
e
th

e
rl
a

n
d
s

% Amphetamines

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

4.5

R
o
m

a
n
ia

P
o

rt
u
g
a

l

L
it
h

u
a
in

ia

S
lo

v
a
k
ia

C
y
p

ru
s

P
o

la
n

d

A
u

s
tr

ia

B
u

lg
a

ri
a

L
u
x
e
m

b
o
u
rg

G
re

e
c
e

C
z
e

c
h
ia

B
e

lg
iu

m

H
u
n
g
a
ry

F
in

la
n

d

L
a
tv

ia

S
lo

v
e
n
ia

G
e
rm

a
n
y

N
o
rw

a
y

E
s
to

n
ia

C
ro

a
ti
a

It
a
ly

F
ra

n
c
e

Ir
e
la

n
d

S
p

a
in

N
e
th

e
rl
a

n
d
s

D
e
n
m

a
rk

U
K

% Cocaine

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

H
u
n

g
a

ry

P
o

la
n

d

N
e
th

e
rl

a
n

d
s

C
y
p
ru

s

R
o
m

a
n

ia

C
z
e
c
h

ia

S
p

a
in

G
re

e
c
e

N
o
rw

a
y

G
e

rm
a

n
y

C
ro

a
ti
a

S
lo

v
e

n
ia

L
it
h

u
a
in

ia

F
in

la
n
d

L
u
x
e

m
b

o
u
rg

L
a
tv

ia

P
o

rt
u
g

a
l

M
a

lt
a

It
a
ly

A
u

s
tr

ia

F
ra

n
c
e

Ir
e

la
n

d

U
K

R
at

e
 p

e
r 

1
0

,0
0

0
 1

5
-6

4
 y

e
ar

 o
ld

s

High risk opioid users

Data are taken from the most recent available national surveys and estimates 

reported by the EMCDDA (74). In some countries, such as Ireland it is not 

possible to be imprisoned for the possession of cannabis, but it is for other drugs. 

EU countries for which data are not available are not included. Depenalisation is 

used as a marker of drug law severity as a clear binary variable, but degrees of 

decriminalisation vary between countries and in some countries, such as the 

Netherlands there is de facto decriminalisation, where although strict punishments 

are theoretically possible, they are not utilised (73). Countries with depenalisation 

identified from EMCDDA map (53). 

Countries in which it is not possible to 

be imprisoned for the possession of that 

drug for personal use 

Countries in which it is possible to be 

imprisoned for the possession of that 

drug for personal use 

Legend 

Figure 6.6 - The estimated proportions of 15-34 year olds who used cannabis, MDMA, amphetamines and 

cocaine in the last year and the rate of high risk opioid users per 10,000 15-64 year olds in EU countries based 

on most recent surveys and estimates - countries with depenalisation policies in green (74) 

Page 56



 

49 
 

2. Can the law stop the supply of drugs? 

Huge amounts of drugs are seized in international efforts to prevent the supply of drugs. This 

could be pointed to as a sign of success, but as more drugs are seized and routes to 

transport them are blocked more drugs are produced and routes to transport them 

established (75). Conflicts with gangs that smuggle drugs can be devastating for the countries 

the conflicts take place in, for example Colombia and Afghanistan.   

Criminals are able to make a massive profit on the drugs they sell - street heroin for example 

is sold for an estimated 16,800% of its cost of production (76) (Figure 6.7). Drugs that are 

seized act as a tax easily absorbed by this profit margin and producers are incentivised to 

risk arrest and come up with new ways to avoid interception. In the UK this has led to both 

the development of county lines dealing and drugs being sold on the dark web, which means 

people can get hold of drugs without even leaving their home. Additionally, the profits can be 

used to bribe officials and encourage corruption.  

If the war on drugs was successful, the price of illicit drugs would have increased making 

them unaffordable. This has not happened, and some drugs are actually getting less 

expensive (74) (77). 

 

Figure 6.7 – the estimated mark-up in value from the farm gate for illicit heroin, demonstrating the profit 

margin for drug producers and dealers (76).  

 

 

For fifty years concerted efforts to stop the supply of illicit drugs have not been 

successful and there is no reason to think that they will be in the future. 

Page 57



 

50 
 

3. Does the law help people who use drugs? 

Contact with the criminal justice system is associated with various poor outcomes. 

Employment prospects are threatened so socioeconomic deprivation, a well-recognised risk 

factor for further drug problems becomes more likely. And offenders are more likely to have 

poor health - those with community probation orders are more than 3.5 times as likely to die 

compared with age matched individuals in the general population (78) (Figure 6.8).  

Figure 6.8 - Standardised mortality ratios of offenders compared to the general population (78) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Putting somebody in prison is unlikely to help them stop using drugs. More than a quarter of 

inmates reported drug use in an HM Inspectorate of Prisons survey (79). This might be 

because the boredom of being in prison encourages inmates to use drugs.  

If people are more worried about the law, they may be less likely to seek help for drug 

related issues and more likely to adopt maladaptive behaviours that put them at greater risk 

of drug related harm. For example, one in ten people at music festivals in Australia who had 

drugs on them when they saw 

drug detection dogs reported 

immediately taking them (80).  

Other studies describe people 

risking hiding drugs inside 

body cavities and taking more 

dangerous drugs they believe 

are harder to detect in order to 

avoid security personnel and 

the police (81) (82).  

Strikingly, nearly all EU 

countries with less punitive 

drug laws have drug related 

death rates below the 

European average (74) (Figure 

6.9). Strict laws do not seem to 

be effectively preventing drug 

related harm and in fact the 

opposite may be true.  

 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

R
o
m

a
n
ia

P
o

rt
u
g
a

l
H

u
n
g
a
ry

C
z
e

c
h
ia

B
u

lg
a

ri
a

S
lo

v
a
k
ia

It
a
ly

B
e

lg
iu

m
F

ra
n
c
e

P
o

la
n

d
C

y
p

ru
s

G
re

e
c
e

L
u
x
e
m

b
…

S
p

a
in

L
a
tv

ia
M

a
lt
a

T
u

rk
e
y

C
ro

a
ti
a

N
e
th

e
rl
…

G
e
rm

a
n
y

A
u

s
tr

ia
S

lo
v
e
n
ia

D
e
n
m

a
rk

F
in

la
n

d
L
it
h

u
a
in

ia
Ir

e
la

n
d

U
K

N
o
rw

a
y

S
w

e
d
e
n

E
s
to

n
ia

D
e

at
h

 r
at

e
 p

e
r 

m
ill

io
n

 1
5

-6
4

 y
e

ar
 o

ld
s

Figure 6.9 - Drug related deaths per million 15-64 year 
olds in EMCDDA reporting countries from most recent 

estimates with countries with depenalisation of all drugs 
in green (74)

Countries in which it is not possible to be imprisoned 

for the possession of that drug for personal use 

Countries in which it is possible to be imprisoned 

for the possession of that drug for personal use 

Page 58



 

51 
 

Ethical considerations 

Public health ethicists suggest that as far as possible force should not be exerted over 

anyone if they are not harming other people (83). The act of using drugs does not directly 

harm other people, dealing them does. From this perspective it makes sense that drug 

dealers who sell harmful substances should be pursued by the law but punishing people for 

possessing drugs for their own use is ethically dubious.  

It is also ethically troubling that the law is exercised variably, which can lead to punishments 

being used disproportionately for certain groups, based on the conscious or unconscious 

prejudices of those exercising it (Box 3). (84) 

 

It is unjust that some can admit the use of drugs 

without punishment, including politicians and 

celebrities, while others are charged with drug 

possession offences with potentially devastating 

consequences. 

 

 

 

 

Box 3 - Racial disparities 

Whether somebody is arrested and charged for drug related offences may be 

determined by the conscious or unconscious prejudices of those responsible for 

doing so. Research suggests that black people use drugs at a similar level or less 

than white people, but despite this in England and Wales in 2016/17 compared to 

white people, black people were: 

 Subject to being stopped and searched 8.4 times more. 

 Prosecuted for drug offences 8 times more. 

 Convicted of cannabis possession 11.8 times more.  

 Sentenced to immediate custody for drug offences 9.1 times more. 

A quarter of people convicted for cannabis possession in England 

and Wales in 2016/17 were black, despite black people making up 

less than 4% of the population.  

(84) 

Page 59



 

52 
 

Conclusion 

Questions about drug policy often become entangled in questions about the morality of drug 

use. If the reason for making some drugs illegal is because it is immoral to use them then it 

is necessary to define what it is about them that makes them morally different to legal drugs 

such as alcohol and cigarettes. If the only answer to this question is “it is immoral to use 

them because they are illegal” – and this is the only answer that is readily apparent - then 

the argument is “drugs are illegal because they are immoral, and they are immoral because 

they are illegal”. This is a circular argument that has no place in sensible, evidence based 

policy making.  

There is no relationship between how harmful different drugs are and their legal status, 

which is based more on political and historical considerations than evidence. There is not 

clear evidence that punitive prohibition-based drug policy reduces the demand for drugs, 

reduces the supply of drugs, or helps people who are using drugs. Without evidence that it 

reduces harm, punitive drugs policy is itself at best ethically dubious and at worst morally 

wrong.  

Page 60



 

53 
 

Chapter 7 - What are the alternatives to 

current drug policy? 

 

In Portugal and lots of other countries the possession of drugs for personal use has been 

decriminalised. In other countries like Spain it was never considered a criminal offence in the 

first place (73). Another potential approach would be to regulate drugs, like the UK 

government does with alcohol and tobacco. Some countries including Uruguay, Canada and 

parts of the USA have already begun to regulate the sale of cannabis. 

 

The case for decriminalisation - what's happening in 

Portugal? 

In Portugal in 2001, the possession of drugs became an administrative rather than a criminal 

offence. This means that people can still potentially receive a fine or another penalty if they 

are caught with drugs, but they are not arrested or sent to court and they don’t get a criminal 

record. 

Since decriminalisation in Portugal: 

 Recent cocaine, amphetamine and ecstasy use has decreased*, whereas recent 

cannabis use has increased. A similar increase in cannabis use has been seen in 

Portugal's neighbouring countries, except for in Spain where use has decreased (74) 

and where the possession of drugs is not and has never been a criminal offence (73) 

(Figures 7.1-7.2). 

 HIV rates have decreased dramatically (74) (Figure 7.3).  

 It is likely that drug related deaths have decreased. The indicators used have 

changed so it is hard to say for sure, but in recent years there has been a marked 

decrease in the primary indicator used by the European Monitoring Centre for Drugs 

and Drug Addiction (74) (Figure 7.4).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

*Lifetime use of drugs has increased but this is a poor marker of current drug use and likely represents transitive experimental 

use that does not become problematic.  

Page 61



 

54 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

n
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
s

Year

Figure 7.3 - Number of cases of HIV diagnosed in 
people who have injected drugs in Portugal and 

the UK from 2007-2016 (74)

HIV
notifications
Portugal

HIV
notifications
UK

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

D
ru

g
 r

e
la

te
d
 d

e
a
th

s

Year

Figure 7.4 - Drug related deaths in 
Portugal from 2008-2017 from the 

Portuguese specialist death registry 
(74)

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

Cannabis Cocaine Amphetamines Ecstasy

P
re

v
a
le

n
c
e
 (

%
)

Figure 7.1 - Proportion of 15-34 year olds using selected drugs in last 12 
months in Portugal (74)

2001

2007

2012

2016/17

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

2001-2002 2005-2007 2010-2012 2015-2017

P
re

v
a
le

n
c
e
 (

%
)

Period during which survey was performed

Figure 7.2 - Proportion of 15-64 year olds who used cannabis in the last 
12 months in selected European countries from 2001-2017 (74)

Portugal

Spain

Italy

France

Page 62



 

55 
 

The way that drug related deaths are recorded is different in the UK and Portugal, so it is not 

possible to make direct comparisons between drug related death rates in the two countries. 

However, in 2016, the drug related death rate in the UK was about 17 times 

higher than that in Portugal (3256 deaths, 77.2 per million 15-64 year olds in the UK, 30 

deaths, 4.5 per million 15-64 year olds in Portugal in 2016) (71). A difference of this 

magnitude is unlikely to be explained by recording practices alone.  

The impressive changes seen in Portugal are despite the country being hit particularly hard 

by the global financial crisis - unemployment in Portugal reached 17.5% in 2013 (85). Given 

the association between deprivation and drug related harm, an increase in drug related harm 

would have been expected rather than the improvements that have been seen.  

The government of Portugal seems to be doing something right. At the same 

time as drug possession was decriminalised however extra resources were invested in 

prevention and treatment services and the welfare state was expanded with the provision of 

a minimum basic income for all citizens. It is therefore difficult to untangle the effect that 

decriminalisation has had as opposed to these other factors. Nonetheless, decriminalisation 

has by no means been disastrous and may have been partially responsible for the benefits 

that have been seen. 

 

The case for regulation 

Although the decriminalisation of drug possession in the UK would likely be beneficial it may 

not address the harms caused by the illicit market for drugs, both in terms of the increasing 

strength and adulteration of drugs from their illicit production and the other crimes committed 

during drug trafficking and financed by with the money it raises. This may be possible if the 

government were to regulate the production and distribution of drugs.  

Although this seems counterintuitive it becomes more palatable when considering that 

opiate substitution therapy is effectively a highly regulated drugs market and 

we know that this helps reduce drug related harm. Parallels can be drawn to the 

regulation of alcohol production to reduce the risk of blindness from inadvertent methanol 

contamination.  

Different drugs have different risks and are used in different ways by different people and 

models of regulation should reflect this. Some ways in which drugs could be regulated are 

explored in box 4 on page 57. 

A black market would almost definitely still exist alongside a regulated drug market, but any 

proportion of the market controlled by the government would decrease the profits that 

criminals are making. This could perhaps tip the scales for anyone weighing up the pros 

(financial incentives) and cons (threat of imprisonment) of being a drug dealer thereby 

reducing the number of people dealing drugs illegally.  

Ethically, there are questions about whether it is right for the government to be involved in 

the production and sale of harmful substances. However, if the involvement could lead to a 

net reduction in harm then perhaps it is justified, and this is exactly what is done in the case 

of alcohol and tobacco with overwhelming evidence that it is beneficial.  

 

Page 63



 

56 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A recent report from Health Poverty Action estimated that 

depending on the model of regulation utilised a legal 

cannabis market in the UK could raise taxes of between 

£1.4 billion and £3.5 billion a year (86) 
 

The money that could be raised from the taxation of other drugs would add to this figure. 

This money could be used to fund drug treatment and harm reduction services as well as 

health promotion campaigns that encourage people to stop using drugs or reduce their 

intake.  

 

 

Box 4 - What could regulation look like? 

Much more work would be needed to design systems of drug regulation, but evidence gained 

from changes in the regulation of alcohol and tobacco gives us a head start. Over the last few 

decades these industries have been transformed. Whereas it was previously possible for 

manufacturers to freely advertise and make unscientific claims about the benefits of smoking 

and drinking they must now follow strict rules that limit their sales. That is not to say there is 

not still much to be done to limit the ways in which alcohol and tobacco can be sold too.  

Some potential ways of regulating the drug market include: 

 Strict control over production to prevent excessively strong or adulterated drugs being 

produced. 

 Limits on the quantities that can be purchased, and age limitations placed on eligible 

customers.  

 Mandatory harm reduction interventions at point of sale tailored to individuals based on 

their medical and drug taking histories, with the opportunity to access further treatment 

services.  

 A strict ban on advertising or the involvement of corporations who may try to increase 

drug sales, when the aim of regulation would be to reduce them. 

 Prices controlled by taxation. Evidence from alcohol and tobacco markets suggest that 

even in the case of addictive substances people will be less likely to purchase them if 

they are more expensive. Taxes raised could then be used to finance treatment 

services and other social goods rather than profits funding other types of crime.  

 More dangerous drugs could only be legally accessible with prescription, as is the case 

with opiate substitution therapy. 

 

 

Page 64



 

57 
 

The effect of the Psychoactive Substances Act 2016 

The Psychoactive Substances Act 2016 made the possession of novel psychoactive 

substances (NPS) such as spice a criminal offence. After its introduction there was a 

significant fall in deaths related to their use, which proponents of criminalisation might argue 

is evidence in favour of prohibition based drugs policy. However, after the introduction of the 

act the use of NPS became more concentrated amongst vulnerable groups, including people 

who are homeless, and prisoners (87) and in 2018 the number of deaths related to NPS 

increased to the highest on record, higher than before the introduction of the Psychoactive 

Substances Act 2016 (34). 

The initial reduction in deaths related to NPS is associated with their market changing from a 

largely unregulated legal market to an unregulated illegal market. Prior to the Psychoactive 

Substances Act shops had very few limitations on how, when or to whom they could sell 

substances. There could be greater benefits from their sale, and the sale of all drugs 

occurring within a responsibly regulated market (Figure 7.5). 

 

 

 

Figure 7.5 - The proposed relationship between regulation and harm (76) 

 

 

 

Page 65



 

58 
 

Conclusion 

The only reason that drugs should be illegal is if it protects people from their harmful effects 

and there isn't convincing evidence that this is the case. On the contrary, current drug policy 

may be exacerbating and causing much of the harm that people are experiencing.  

In Portugal the decriminalisation of drugs was associated with significant benefits, which 

should prompt other countries to follow suit. And even greater benefits could be associated 

with wholesale drug regulation, provided the influence of private companies and individuals 

aiming to profit financially from the market was strictly limited. 

 

 

Page 66



 

59 
 

Chapter 8 - What we are doing to 

reduce drug related harm and what 

more can we do? 

This chapter highlights some of the good work that is being done locally, points out where 

refinements may be necessary and suggests other interventions that would likely be 

beneficial that are not currently in widespread use. First though, it is worth considering what 

a drug strategy should be trying to achieve. 

 

What should be the key aims of a drug strategy? 

If people don't take drugs, they can't be 

directly harmed by them, so we should try to:  

Reduce drug use 

 

There will always be some people using drugs 

so we should ensure they are as safe as 

possible when doing so by promoting: 

 

Harm reduction 
 

Some of these people will develop problems 

because of their drug use so we need to: 

(88)  

Support people who are 

dependent on drugs or in 

recovery 

 

Although harm reduction measures are mentioned in the UK drug strategy, harm reduction 

does not feature as one of the four key elements (89). This differs in other countries such as 

Ireland where the drugs strategy is titled Reducing Harm, Supporting Recovery (90).  

It is more helpful to consider problematic drug use as a health issue rather 

than a criminal justice problem. Accordingly, the Department of Health should 

have primary responsibility for the UK drugs strategy. This is the case in countries 

with more of a focus on harm reduction such as Portugal.  

(91) (92)

Health is a fundamental human right (88) 

whether or not somebody has done things 

that the law currently considers illegal. 

People who use or have used drugs should 

be helped to lead lives that are as healthy 

and full as possible. 

Efforts should focus on reducing the use of 

more harmful drugs, such as heroin and 

cocaine and helping people to avoid 

frequent or dependent use. 

Some level of drug use is inevitable in 

society without a level of authoritarian 

control that is incompatible with basic British 

values. This is highlighted by the fact that 

drug use continues in prisons where 

inmates can be strictly monitored. 

Page 67



 

60 
 

Reducing drug use 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Box 8 - Addressing benefits and rising housing costs 

More work needs to be done to ensure that deprivation and 

homelessness do not limit peoples' choices and opportunities. The 

Homelessness Act 2017 is a step in the right direction, but it does not 

address the shortage of affordable and social housing or provide local 

authorities with the extra resources needed to fulfil their new duties. 

Changes to the benefits system and the introduction of Universal Credit 

have made some peoples’ financial situations worse. There are issues 

to do with processes and delivery, which urgently need to be addressed 

but, in some cases, people are simply unable to claim enough money to 

meet their basic needs, leading to a higher risk of social harms such as 

homelessness and the growth of illicit economies.  

In some cases, local authorities may be able to offer support around 

budgeting and access to employment if they have the resources to do 

so, but ultimately action is needed from central government to improve 

the new system and provide the funding that is necessary.   

Box 5 - PSHE in schools 

The scope and quality of drugs education in 

schools is mixed. Schools sometimes use 

unregulated organisations to provide drugs 

education, and in some cases, there may be 

concerns about these organisations' motivations 

(91). The evidence indicates that lessons focusing 

on social influence and life skills are more effective 

than those that just give information on drugs, or try 

to 'scare pupils straight', which may be 

counterproductive and actually increase the 

likelihood of drug use (92).  

Simply telling young people about the risks 

of drugs or to "just say no" doesn't work. 

Although it has recently been updated, the 

government guidance for PSHE drugs education is 

sparse. At the time of writing a comprehensive 

PSHE programme for Portsmouth is being 

developed but whether or not it is adopted by 

schools is determined on a voluntary basis. A 

national curriculum would help ensure that all 

children receive adequate, evidence based drugs 

education.  

 

 

Box 6 - Ensuring that early help needs are met 

There are many different services involved in ensuring 

that families get the support they need to provide an 

environment in which children are able to flourish. If 

children have the best possible start in life, they are 

less likely to develop problematic drug habits and 

suffer many other negative outcomes, which are 

costly for society, but most importantly cause them 

suffering. 

Services range from universal and targeted support 

services, which give parents and families advice and 

assistance, and social care services, which are able 

to provide temporary or permanent alternative living 

environments for children who are suffering from 

adverse childhood experiences.  

Local services are doing brilliant work, and strategy 

reviews have been undertaken to strengthen the 

support that is available. Nonetheless, in a time of 

spending constraint it is vitally important to at least 

maintain and ideally increase funding for services 

such as these, which will likely reduce future costs to 

other services, such as the NHS and adult social 

services.  

Box 7 - Substance misuse 

champions 

In Portsmouth there are a number of 

substance misuse champions in 

social care, colleges, play services 

and other organisations that are 

trained to help young people who are 

using substances stop using them, 

and stay as safe as possible when 

they do.  

A need was identified that despite 

this, some young people using drugs 

were still not being reached early 

enough or with sufficient reach. In 

response to this, services for the 

young people most in need are in the 

process of being expanded. 

 
Page 68



 

61 
 

Harm reduction 

(93) (94) 

 

(95) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Box 10 - Take-home naloxone 

Naloxone is a drug that reverses the effects of heroin and other opiates when somebody has 

overdosed. It can be given without a prescription to people who are likely to witness overdoses 

occurring.  

Studies have shown that areas with take home naloxone programmes have significantly lower 

opioid overdose related mortality (94). And local services have reported incidents when naloxone has 

been used to potentially save lives. 

Across the UK only 11% of people who use opiates in treatment received take-home naloxone and 

training how to use it in 2017/18 (95).  

We can use the most recent data from services providing naloxone (2018/19) and the most recent 

estimates of people using opiates (2016/17 (29)) to estimate coverage locally.  

In Portsmouth 255 kits were dispensed (about one kit for every four people using 

opiates). 

In Southampton 361 kits were dispensed (about one kit for every three people using 

opiates). 

More people than this might have kits as naloxone doesn't expire for a few years and some people 

might have kits they got in 2015-16. On the other hand, multiple kits may have been dispensed to 

individuals as they lost or used them. More work needs to be done locally and nationally to assess 

and improve naloxone coverage as one important way of reducing drug related deaths.  

Box 9 - Needle syringe programmes 

Sharing and reusing needles to inject drugs increases the risk of wound and blood borne infections, 

including HIV, hepatitis B, hepatitis C and bacterial infections. This is not only obviously bad for the 

people who are getting infections, but the treatment is costly for society. An important way of 

preventing this is providing sterile needles and equipment to inject with. 

Taking the most recent needle syringe programme data available for each city (2018/19 for 

Portsmouth and 2017/18 for Southampton) and the most recent estimates of people using opiates 

(2016/17 (29)) we can get an idea of needle syringe programme coverage locally.  

In Portsmouth in a year there were 154,107 needles dispensed (about 140 per person 

using opiates) 

In Southampton in a year there were 231,364 needles dispensed (about 190 per 

person using opiates) 

Many of the people using opiates will have been receiving treatment and may have not been or 

rarely injecting drugs but those who were using heroin may have been injecting several times a day. 

It is likely that there is an unmet need for sterile needles and more work needs to be done to 

improve the coverage of current provision.  

It is estimated that engaging a further 10% of the drug injecting population in England with needle 

syringe programmes would lead to a net saving of £31 million in terms of hepatitis C treatment 

alone without considering HIV and other infections (93).  

Page 69



 

62 
 

Harm reduction - What else should be done? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(96) 

Figure 8.1 - A map of the drug consumption rooms in Europe (96) 

 

(97) (98) 

(99) 

(100) 

(101) 

(102) 

 

Box 11 - Drug consumption rooms 

In various other European countries (Figure 8.1) drug consumption rooms have been used as an 

intervention to reduce drug related harm since 1986 (96). They provide a space for people who use drugs 

to inject, smoke or snort drugs under the supervision of trained staff and an opportunity to provide harm 

reduction advice, sterile injecting equipment, drug checking, counselling and overdose treatment.  

An independent working group investigating drug consumption rooms concluded they "offer a unique 

and promising way to work with the most problematic users, in order to reduce the risk of 

overdose, improve their health and lessen the damage and costs to society" and recommended 

"that pilot DCRs are set up and evaluated in the UK" (97). 

Since then, various bodies including the Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs and several local 

authorities have noted the potential benefits of drug consumption rooms and called for their careful 

introduction (16) (49) (98) (99) (100). Despite this, the Home Office has stated that they cannot operate in the 

UK under the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971 (101).  

Studies have demonstrated that drug consumption rooms: 

 Facilitate the management of overdoses and prevent drug related deaths. 

 Encourage safer injecting practices. 

 Yield cost savings due to reductions in drug related deaths and transmission of blood borne 

viruses. 

 Increase the uptake of health and social services. 

 Reduce drug litter (Figure 8.2) and public injecting.  

 Attract people who use drugs riskily and have a high coverage of local people using drugs. 

 Do not increase drug use. 

 Do not increase crime. 

(102) 

Page 70



 

63 
 

Harm reduction - What else should be done? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(103) (104) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Box 12 - Harm reduction education for club drugs 

Researchers and stakeholders involved in the writing of this report who have experience in the field 

suggest that young people who are already using drugs are more receptive to harm reduction 

advice than abstinence-based messaging (41) (103).  

Although taking drugs is never safe, there are steps that can be taken to dramatically reduce the 

risk that people expose themselves to, for example taking a lower dose and not mixing certain 

combinations of drugs. We know that some groups are more likely to have experimented with drugs 

than the general population, and so may benefit from this sort of advice. This includes people who 

frequently attend electronic dance music events, festivalgoers and university students (40) (41) (45) 

(104).  

Efforts to promote harm reduction education in these settings are sometimes met with controversy, 

but it is highly likely that young people who use drugs are going to come to harm more frequently if 

they aren’t aware of the risks and how to reduce them. 

Although there has been more provision in the past, there are currently limited local services 

providing outreach in nightlife settings and more work could be done in this area. 

 

Figure 8.2 - Drug litter in Six Dials, Southampton (photo 

courtesy of Nigel Brunsdon (16)) 

Page 71



 

64 
 

Harm reduction - What else should be done? 

(40) (103) (105) (106) (107) (108) (109) (110) (111) (112) (113) (114) (115) 

 Box 13 - Drug checking at festivals 

Drug checking at festivals is relatively new in the UK but has been used for decades in 

other countries. People go to the services to have their substances tested and find out what 

they contain and how strong they are. Then they are given tailored harm reduction advice 

on how to reduce the risks when they take drugs. One of the most important aspects of 

drug checking is creating this opportunity to speak to young people who take drugs who are 

otherwise difficult to engage with.  

Drug checking has been shown to: 

 Influence short term drug taking behaviour in hypothetical surveys and service data 

with service users indicating they would not take a drug or would take less of it if the 

result was unexpected. 

 Be associated with reduced drug related medical issues at festivals. 

 Potentially decrease longer term riskier drug taking behaviour. 

 Potentially influence the drugs market by removing dangerous substances from 

circulation as warnings about them are distributed and people don't want to buy 

them. 

(40) (103) (105) (106) (107) (108) (109) (110) (111) (112) (113) (114) (115) 

Although drug checking services have been provided at multiple UK festivals previously, at 

the time of writing no UK festivals have been able to provide front of house testing in 2019. 

Work needs to be done to remove the barriers stopping the provision of drug checking and 

guidance and regulations should be introduced to ensure that services are provided when 

there is a need for them. 

Box 14 - Drug checking clinics 

Not everyone can afford a festival ticket, especially people from more deprived backgrounds 

who are more likely to use drugs problematically. 

Drug checking services have also been provided in a few town centres including Bristol and 

Weston-Super-Mare. Further clinics in areas where a need is evidenced should be trialled 

given the promising evidence in their favour. 

Page 72



 

65 
 

Supporting people who are dependent on drugs or 

in recovery 

(116) (117) 

(118) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Box 15 - Structured treatment 

Local treatment services aim to help people overcome drug dependence and lead healthier lives. By far 

most of the people who require treatment for drug use are people who use opiates. Treatment involves a 

host of interventions, including counselling and in the case of people who use heroin, opiate substitution 

therapy. This means prescribing them methadone or buprenorphine, which are medications that help them 

to resist the urge to use heroin again. 

Structured treatment for opiate dependence has been shown to: 

 Reduce mortality 

 Reduce street drug use 

 Reduce criminal behaviour 

 Reduce the rates of HIV and other blood borne virus transmission 

(116) 

Looking at the estimated numbers of people who use opiates and the number in treatment it is likely that 

nearly half of people using opiates both locally and nationally are not in treatment. The estimated proportion 

of people using opiates not in treatment has been increasing since 2013 (Figure 8.3), which may be related 

to the decreasing drug treatment budget discussed in Chapter 4 – ‘The health harms from drugs’. Currently, 

there is no legal mandate for local authorities to provide drug treatment services and in 2020 the ring fence 

around public health funding could be removed. If this occurs, then the funding situation could get even 

worse and the unmet treatment need could increase (49).    

 

Not only do people who use drugs benefit from being in treatment, wider society does too. It is 

estimated that each £1 spent on drugs treatment results in £2.50 of savings for 

society due to reductions in crime and savings to other services (117). 

For some people who use opiates it is feasible that treatment will help them stop using drugs completely, 

but for others this is not possible. In such cases prolonged prescription of opiate substitution therapy to 

facilitate normal functioning in society may be preferable to focussing on completing treatment, which could 

lead to that person quickly relapsing (49) (118). 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

%

Year

Figure 8.3 - The estimated proportion of people who use 
opiates who are not in treatment 2013-17 (14)

Portsmouth

Southampton

England

Page 73



 

66 
 

Supporting people who are dependent on drugs or 

in recovery  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Box 16 - Ensuring that mental health needs are met 

Local mental health services are working hard but like elsewhere in the country 

they are under strain. Some people would likely benefit from more help than 

services can currently provide (11). 

Often, people who have issues with substance misuse also have issues with their 

mental health – so called dual diagnosis. Dual diagnosis can be difficult to treat, 

and in some instances, may create barriers for people trying to access services. 

Although much work has been done on the issue locally, it is a complex problem 

and it is difficult to know the best way forward. There is more to do and there is 

likely still room for improvement. 

Box 17 - The role of healthcare professionals 

Healthcare professionals play an important role identifying people who 

are using substances, offering advice and directing them to drug 

services. They are often extremely busy in stretched services however, 

and opportunities may sometimes be missed.  

Local hospitals have alcohol liaison teams, but they do not have 

dedicated workers to ensure that people presenting to A&E with issues 

related to other drugs are receiving follow-up support and engaging 

with appropriate services. More work is needed in this area.   

Page 74



 

67 
 

Supporting people who are dependent on drugs or 

in recovery 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Box 18 - Developing opportunities 

People who have been dependent on drugs may have trouble finding employment in the future, 

because of a lack of relevant experience or a criminal record. Without the opportunity to work for a 

living it is difficult to escape the cycle of socioeconomic deprivation and drug dependence.  

Service users in Portsmouth can work in the new Cafe in the Park (Figure 8.4-8.5) giving them the 

chance to work in the catering and customer service industry. Others work on projects fixing and 

refitting bicycles or computers, get a job with local partner businesses or work for the drugs treatment 

service. Many service users receive skill-based training, or enrol in courses, which can help them find 

a job in the future.   

Figure 8.4 - The Cafe in the Park in Victoria park in Portsmouth.  

Figure 8.5 - Some of the staff working in 

the Café in the Park  

Box 19 - Peer support and activities 

In both cities people who are dependent on drugs can get support from their peers 

who have been on a similar journey and now live a life free from drugs. This can be 

valuable for both parties as for those providing support it can give structure and 

experience of a role of responsibility.    

Additionally, there are various support groups, sports and other diversionary activities 

organised for service users to give them alternative healthy outlets for their time 

(Figures 8.6-8.8).  

Page 75



 

68 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 8.6 - A fishing trip organised by the local 

services  

Figure 8.7 - A group of service users at one of the fitness programmes organised locally   

Page 76



 

69 
 

Supporting people who are dependent on drugs or 

in recovery - What else should be done? 

(119) (120) (121) (122) (123) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Box 20 - Heroin assisted therapy 

Heroin assisted therapy is the prescription and administration of injectable diamorphine in a 

medically supervised setting instead of or as well as oral opiate substitution. Diamorphine is a 

drug sometimes used as a painkiller in hospital that has the same chemical structure as 

heroin.  

Trials from six countries have demonstrated that heroin assisted therapy reduced drug related 

death and reduced street drug use. Services in Switzerland, Germany and the Netherlands 

led to annual savings of EUR 6,301-14,807 per service user for reasons including decreased 

acquisitive crime and a reduction in drug related deaths (119) (120). 

Because of the evidence in its favour, heroin assisted therapy is recommended by various 

expert bodies for use when people did not benefit from first line treatment (98) (121) (122). Despite 

this, heroin assisted therapy is not commonly used in the UK. This is likely in part because 

local authorities can't afford it. If they had the initial funds to provide it could lead to savings in 

the long run, but it is expensive, with services in Switzerland, Germany and the Netherlands 

costing EUR 13,870, EUR 19,020 and EUR 20,410 per patient per year respectively (119).  

Box 21 - Contingency management 

Contingency management is the process of offering rewards for positive behaviour that it 

would be beneficial for people to continue. Behaviours that are rewarded can include 

abstaining from drugs, receiving a full course of hepatitis B vaccine or getting a job. And 

rewards could include food vouchers, money, or the freedom to take their prescribed 

methadone home. When someone takes a drug the brain releases chemicals that make them 

satisfied, a reward for taking the drug. Contingency management works by interfering with this 

mechanism by providing a competing reward.  

Studies looking at contingency management have mixed results, but there are lots of studies 

that show it reduces ongoing drug use (123). 

Again, it's recommended by various expert bodies, but it's not used very often, likely because 

of a lack of funds (98) (121) (122). 

Page 77



 

70 
 

Chapter 9 - Conclusion - who needs to 

do what? 

 

Locally, nationally and internationally there is a huge amount of harm associated with the 

trade and use of drugs. Current drug policy, which treats drug use as an issue of criminal 

justice pushes the problem underground, makes it difficult to measure drug related harm and 

stifles efforts to mitigate it. It not only costs society a huge amount of money but is causing 

harm itself. The next page summarises some of the issues with current drug policy, which 

have been explored in the other chapters of this report. 

What we're doing isn't working. It's time for a different approach. 

 

We could follow in the footsteps of Portugal and many other countries around the world to 

decriminalise drug possession in order to stop the stigmatisation of people using drugs that 

are arbitrarily illegal. This could create a more open and productive dialogue about drugs 

and their dangers and encourage people who are using them problematically to seek help. 

We could be braver - we could regulate the production and sale of all drugs. The people who 

currently control the illicit drug market want to increase the demand for drugs with little 

regard for the safety of the people who use them. The profits they make fund other criminal 

activities, while vulnerable people are exploited, and other crimes are committed in the 

process of drug trafficking. The government could regulate a competing market with the 

intention of decreasing the demand for drugs and encouraging safer drug use raising taxes 

to invest back into society. This would wrestle at least a portion of the market away from 

criminals, thereby reducing their profits and decreasing some of the wider harms associated 

with the illegal drug market.  

Decriminalisation or regulation will not stop people from coming to 

harm from drugs but based on the available evidence it is likely to 

help. 

 

We have the evidence to know what prevention and treatment interventions reduce drug 

related harm but for various reasons this evidence is not always applied in practice. In some 

cases, this is because of a lack of funding, in others it may be because decision makers are 

ideologically opposed to taking a different approach, or there are political considerations 

preventing them from doing so.  

Public opinion puts pressure on politicians to promote punitive sanctions and make other 

decisions that are unlikely to help. More work needs to be done to combat the idea that 

people who use drugs are morally corrupt outcasts. Most people who use drugs do so 

unproblematically and lead productive lives in mainstream society. And people who develop 

problematic habits often do so in response to the other problems in their lives. 

The factors that predispose people to problematic drug habits are 

not under the control of the law.  

Page 78



 

71 
 

…does not take into account the 
differences between drugs  

 Catastrophising any and all drug use may disenfranchise young people, so that they are less likely 
to listen to warnings about particularly dangerous drugs or behaviours.  

(Chapter 1) 

…punishes people who are using 
drugs problematically because of their 
difficult lives when what they need is 
help 

 Problematic drug use is associated with deprivation, adverse childhood experiences and mental 
health problems. Giving someone in this position a criminal record only makes their life more 
difficult.  

(Chapter 2) 

…is not reducing the number of people 
who are taking drugs problematically 

 Nationally, the number of people using opiates and crack cocaine is increasing. An estimated one 
in five 16-24 year olds has taken illicit drugs in the last year. 

(Chapter 3) 

…is not reducing drug related harm  Drugs are being produced by criminals, driven by profit rather than concern for peoples’ health. The 
purity of many drugs is increasing to record levels and they are being adulterated with more 
dangerous substances.  Drug related deaths in the UK are the highest on record and are increasing 
yearly. 

(Chapter 4) 

…is contributing to many wider harms 
in society 

 Pushing the drugs market underground creates a funding stream for criminal organisations and 
promotes the exploitation of vulnerable people.  

(Chapter 5) 

…is arbitrary, not supported by 
evidence that prohibition based 
policies work and is ethically dubious 

 There is no obvious relationship between the amount of harm different drugs cause and their legal 
status.  

 It is not clear that prohibition based drug policy decreases the demand for drugs, stops the supply 
of drugs or helps people who are using drugs problematically. 

 Ethicists suggest that punishing people who are not harming anyone else is at best contentious and 
at worst morally wrong.   

(Chapter 6) 

…ignores international evidence of 
more successful approaches 

 Since decriminalising the possession of drugs Portugal has seen significant improvements in the 
amount of drug related harm in the country and there may be even greater benefits from a model of 
responsible drug regulation.   

(Chapter 7) 

…limits the use of evidence-based 
interventions 

 Evidence based interventions such as drug consumption rooms and drug checking services are 
prohibited or hampered by current policy. 

 Money currently being spent on efforts to punish people for possessing drugs could be redirected to 
fund stretched drug treatment services and other evidence-based interventions. 

(Chapter 8) 

Drug policy in the UK…. 

  

P
age 79



 

72 
 

Who needs to do what? 

It is believed that if the following recommendations were adopted it would be beneficial for the local 

area and the wider population. Recommendations have been formulated based on the referenced 

evidence and the knowledge and experience of the stakeholders involved in the writing of the 

report. They do not necessarily represent the views of the management or elected members of 

Portsmouth or Southampton City Councils.   

Central government 

 The possession of drugs for personal use should be decriminalised awaiting a review of potential 

models of regulation for all currently illegal drugs. Decriminalisation and regulation will not stop 

drug related harm from occurring, but the available evidence suggests it may reduce it. Current 

policy is not helping matters, comes with significant expense, and may be making the situation 

worse. Although there are other important steps to take nationally and locally it makes sense in the 

first instance to stop spending resources on measures that are hampering progress. 

 The Department of Health should oversee and bear primary responsibility for the next drug 

strategy and ensure that harm reduction is one of the strategy’s key tenets. The Home Office’s 

input will still be necessary regarding the criminal market for drugs. 

 The impact of the Homelessness Reduction Act should be closely monitored, while further efforts 

are necessary to combat increasing homelessness, including the building of more affordable and 

social housing. 

 To reduce deprivation and income inequality we should strengthen our progressive taxation 

system. The problems with Universal Credit should be monitored and addressed to ensure that 

vulnerable people are not being left with less money overall, or suffering delays in payments that 

can be crippling without a financial safety net.  

 Adequate funding should be provided for local authority public health teams to perform work 

reducing the demand for drugs and to fund harm reduction and drug treatment services. 

 The provision of comprehensive drug treatment services should be mandated.  

 The provision of central funding for treatments that are currently under-utilised, including heroin 

assisted therapy, contingency management and take-home naloxone would be beneficial to ensure 

stretched local services are providing them.  

 The law should be clarified to allow the establishment of drug consumption rooms when local need 

is evidenced. In the meantime, local agencies including the police should be permitted to negotiate 

working agreements that would allow trial facilities to be created.  

 Licenses should be granted, and funding provided for publicly accessible drug checking clinics 

when local need is evidenced, and obstacles should be removed that prevent drug checking 

services operating at festivals. 

 Adequate funding is necessary for early help and social care services in order to prevent ACEs 

occurring and to try and mitigate their negative effects when they do.  

 Adequate funding is necessary for mental health services, which are under significant pressure. 

 A more comprehensive national PSHE curriculum would be beneficial to ensure that schools are 

utilising evidence based techniques and to limit the influence of unregulated external organisations.  

 

Page 80



 

73 
 

Local authorities 

 Local authorities have a key role in providing strategic leadership and oversight of efforts to reduce 

drug related harm. 

 If they are not already, other local authorities should lobby central government to move to a model 

of drug decriminalisation or regulation, and to allow, encourage and provide adequate funds for the 

provision of evidence based interventions. 

 Local authorities have a responsibility to try and ensure drug treatment services are adequately 

resourced, focusing on reach and effectiveness for both adults and young people. Evidence based 

measures to reduce drug related harm should be comprehensively provided, making harm 

reduction the principle aim, with recovery and abstinence as additional desirable outcomes. This 

includes continued efforts to promote needle syringe programmes, opiate substitution therapy and 

take home naloxone programmes. Additional interventions with promising evidence in their favour 

not currently being widely utilised should be considered, particularly heroin assisted therapy and 

also contingency management programmes. 

 If not already in place, work to assess the demand for hospital liaison and drug outreach services 

may demonstrate their potential benefits. 

 When the law allows local authority public health teams should consider trialling and 

commissioning drug consumption rooms and drug checking services when need is evidenced.  

 Local authority safety advisory groups should not provide an obstacle to the provision of harm 

reduction measures. Rather, as well as ensuring the organisers of large music events are providing 

comprehensive medical and welfare services, they should promote a harm reduction approach and 

start conversations about the promotion of harm reduction advice, and the provision of drugs 

outreach workers and drug checking services. Measures should be proportionate to the level of 

expected drug use, which at any large music event attended by young people without a clear focus 

not associated with drug use, such as classical music, is likely to be significant. The effectiveness 

of measures designed to intimidate people carrying drugs such as drug detection dogs and 

onerous searching is unclear and they may cause people to adopt mal-adaptive behaviours such 

as panic-dosing, pre-dosing and the smuggling of drugs in body cavities. Accordingly, the latter 

measures should be recommended and adopted with caution, and further research into their 

effectiveness encouraged.  

 While central government continues the transition from the legacy benefits system to Universal 

Credit, efforts should be made locally to mitigate the negative effects on those who are struggling 

with transitioning to the new system, and those experiencing the most detriment from changes to 

benefit entitlements and assessment processes.  

 

Police and Crime Commissioners 

 Available funding should be directed at measures to promote harm reduction and recovery and 

should be sustained with longer term outcomes in mind. 

 

 

 

 

Page 81



 

74 
 

Drug treatment services 

 Drug treatment services are ideally placed to monitor the changing trends in drug supply and use 

and should continue to work with local authorities to ensure that services are responding to these 

evolving needs. 

Police and courts 

 Generally, as far as the current legislative environment permits it would be preferable to not pursue 

punitive criminal sanctions for people found in possession of drugs if they have not committed 

other crimes. The use of community resolutions, which should not show up on pre-employment 

checks would reduce the negative impacts on the lives of vulnerable and deprived people who use 

drugs problematically.  

 

Mental health services 

 Further work is needed to ascertain how best to treat people with a dual diagnosis of substance 

misuse and mental health problems, and to remove barriers that prevent them accessing services. 

 

Medical practitioners 

 Medical practitioners have obvious roles to play in reducing drug related harm including identifying 

and treating medical and mental health problems related to drug use, explaining the risks of drugs 

and promoting harm reduction advice. They also have a less obvious role to play as potentially 

powerful advocates for evidence based drug policy.  

 Practitioners, particularly those working for event medical providers and in A&E and other acute 

settings should be familiar with the NEPTUNE Guidance for the management of medical issues 

related to club drugs and novel psychoactive substances, developed by the Central and North 

West London NHS Foundation Trust (124).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Box 22 – Prescription drug related harm 

This report did not focus on the problems related to prescription drug use. There is an increasing 

awareness of people becoming addicted to the drugs prescribed for them, particularly opiates, which 

can lead to significant health and social problems. More work is required on this subject. 

 A formal assessment is required of the scale of the problem locally and the response of local 

services 

 Many of the risk factors for problematic illicit drug use are the same as those for problematic 

prescription drug use, again highlighting the importance of funding and services to combat 

deprivation, mental health problems and adverse childhood experiences. 

 GPs would likely benefit from more support and training to recognise when the use of prescription 

drugs is causing problems. 

 Greater collaboration between drug treatment services and other healthcare providers may be 

beneficial. 

 More work could be done to highlight the dangers of inappropriate prescription drug use to 

patients.  

 Further research is needed to identify how best to prevent the inappropriate use of prescription 

drugs and how to mitigate the harm it causes.   

Page 82



 

75 
 

Colleges and universities 

 Many colleges and universities are already doing valuable work promoting harm reduction advice, 

recognising that abstinence based health promotion efforts may not be the most effective for young 

people already using drugs. Despite the controversy that sometimes accompanies these efforts 

institutions that are already providing harm reduction advice should continue, and those that are 

not should consider starting to do so. 

 Consideration could be given to providing open access anonymous workshops giving students 

more in depth harm reduction advice if local need is identified. 

 

Schools 

 It is strongly recommended that schools adopt evidence based PSHE programmes and do not 

utilise ineffective 'just say no' campaigns or scare tactics, which may be detrimental.  

 Care should be given to ensuring that unregulated external organisations that are not endorsed by 

the PSHE association or the local authority do not deliver drugs education, as their methods may 

not be evidence based and their motives are sometimes unclear.    

 

Festivals and night life venues 

 Staff members should be trained in drugs awareness and know what to do in a drug related 

emergency – there should be staff on duty who have had first aid training and have access to the 

ambulance referral criteria for people using drugs available here 

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2429905/figure/F1/?report=objectonly (125)  

 For larger events where drug use is likely, the provision of harm reduction interventions - welfare 

and outreach workers, educational materials and drug checking services is recommended.  

 Supply reduction measures, such as routine searching and drug detection dogs are a double-

edged sword and may cause people who are using drugs to adopt riskier behaviours to avoid 

detection, so they should be exercised with caution.  

 Further guidance is available on how to reduce drug related harm at events including Safer 

Dancing (126) and Safer Nightlife (127). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 83

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2429905/figure/F1/?report=objectonly


 

76 
 

People who are using or thinking about using drugs 

 Taking drugs is never safe and the best thing you can do is not take them. However, 

there are steps that you can take to reduce the risks you're exposing yourself to if you do: 

 

- Do your research - Don't take taking drugs lightly. Using a drug once could 

change your life and you should never do so on a whim. The Loop provide 

information about the effects of drugs and what harm reduction measures you 

should be taking - https://wearetheloop.org/club-drug-info. Other websites such as 

drugsand.me, Erowid, Psychonautwiki and Tripsit provide more detailed 

information on drugs that are less common and on dangerous combinations. It is 

important to note that not much scientific research has been performed on many 

illicit drugs so care should be taken when considering the advice being presented. 

Information may be based on the anecdotes of people who have used the drug, 

which may not be generalisable; or evidence from experiments on animals, or 

tissues in test tubes, which might not be relevant for humans. If a source presents 

information such as this without pointing out its limitations, then any information 

from that source should be used with caution.  

- Check your drugs - The strength of drugs varies within batches. Checking them 

doesn't make them safe but it could stop you taking some substances that are 

particularly dangerous. Drug checking services are available at some music 

festivals and some cities are hosting pilot drug checking clinics. If you're not lucky 

enough to have a festival ticket, or to live near one of these pilot clinics you can 

send your drugs to be tested by WEDINOS (http://www.wedinos.org) or Energy 

Control (http://www.energycontrol-international.org). Alternatively, you can get 

reagent kits online, which may stop you taking some unexpected substances, but 

are not as accurate as comprehensive testing. It is important to understand the 

limitations of reagent tests – they may sometimes be misinterpreted, don’t tell you 

the strength of drugs and may not tell you if your drug is mixed with another 

substance. 

 Make sure that your drug taking doesn't harm other people. Don't take drugs in front of 

your children, if you’re pregnant, if you have to steal to afford them or if you’re driving. And if 

you find that when you use drugs you are more likely to engage in violent or criminal 

behaviour then you need to get help from drugs services.  

 If you feel like your drug use is causing problems, you should seek help. You can 

speak to your GP or contact one of the services below. If you are feeling acutely unwell you 

should always go to A&E.  

  

Page 84

https://wearetheloop.org/club-drug-info
http://www.wedinos.org/
http://www.energycontrol-international.org/


 

77 
 

Seeking Help 

 Portsmouth (19 or under) – Drug and Alcohol Support Services 

07951497898 or 07557753131 

DASS@portsmouthcc.gov.uk  

 

 Portsmouth (over 18) - Recovery Hub 

44-46 Elm Grove, Southsea, PO5 1JG 

02392 294573  

http://ssj.org.uk/sub-service/recovery-hub/  

 

 Southampton (24 or under) - No Limits  

13 High Street, SO14 2DF 

02380 224224 

http://www.nolimitshelp.org.uk 

 

 Southampton (over 25) - ChangeGrowLive 

2 The carronades, New Road, SO14 0AA 

02380 717171 

http://www.changegrowlive.org/content/southampton-drug-and-alcohol-recovery-service-dars  

 

  

Page 85

mailto:DASS@portsmouthcc.gov.uk
http://ssj.org.uk/sub-service/recovery-hub/
http://www.nolimitshelp.org.uk/
http://www.changegrowlive.org/content/southampton-drug-and-alcohol-recovery-service-dars


 

78 
 

Case study - complex problems need complex solutions 
 

This is Sarah. Her story is based on a real person living locally. She has had contact 

with 27 different local services who have worked hard to help her, but despite their 

efforts she has had a difficult life and still struggles with problematic drug use. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Early life – As a child, Sarah is 

sexually abused. She has her first 

child at 16 years old, and two more 

before she is 21, one of whom dies 

soon after. She has to move house 

frequently because of episodes of 

domestic abuse. Adulthood - Sarah develops 

problems with her mental health, 

self-harms and is admitted to 

hospital after taking an overdose. At 

some point, she starts using illicit 

drugs. After engaging with drugs 

treatment services, she manages to 

detox, but is then raped and starts 

using drugs again… 

 …Sarah's children go to live with 

her mother. She is arrested for 

burglary, evicted, and becomes 

homeless. Whilst homeless she is 

exploited and continues to use 

drugs problematically.  

Now - Sarah is 38 years old. She is homeless, 

dependent on drugs, has a criminal record, 

complex physical and mental health needs and is 

not engaging with services.  

Sarah's story is not unusual. People in 

this position have had extremely 

difficult lives. They don't need 

punishment, they need help.  

 

A video of Sarah's story can be viewed on the 

Safer Portsmouth Partnership website  

http://www.saferportsmouth.org.uk/complex-needs/ (28) 
Page 86

http://www.saferportsmouth.org.uk/complex-needs/


 

79 
 

References 
 

1. Adley, M. Club drugs wheel. [Online] 2018. [Cited: November 5, 2018.] 

http://thedrugswheel.com/downloads/Club_Drugs_Wheel_A4_1_0_3.pdf - used without permission 

or endorsement of the author under license terms available at 

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0/ . 

2. Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development. Addressing Problematic Opioid Use in 

OECD Countries, OECD Health Policy Studies. [Online] 2019. [Cited: September 11, 2019.] 

https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/social-issues-migration-health/addressing-problematic-opioid-use-in-

oecd-countries_a18286f0-en#page1. 

3. Chen, TC et al. Prescription opioids: Regional variation and socioeconomic status - evidence from 

primary care in England. International Journal of Drug Policy. 2019, Vol. 64, pp. 87-94. 

4. Home Office. Drug Misuse: Findings from the 2017/18 Crime Survey for England and Wales. ONS. 

[Online] 2018. [Cited: November 15, 2018.] 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file

/729249/drug-misuse-2018-hosb1418.pdf. 

5. Office for National Statistics. Estimates of the population for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland 

and Northern Ireland. ONS. [Online] 2018. [Cited: January 22, 2019.] 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationesti

mates/datasets/populationest. 

6. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction. European Drug Report - Trends and 

Developments 2018. EMCDDA. [Online] 2018. [Cited: November 5, 2018.] 

http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/system/files/publications/8585/20181816_TDAT18001ENN_PDF.pdf

. 

7. Global Drug Survey. Global Drug Survey 2018. Global Drug Survey. [Online] 2018. [Cited: 

November 5, 2018.] https://www.globaldrugsurvey.com/gds-2018/. 

8. Tsang, M et al. The Harvard Twin Study of Substance Abuse: What We Have Learned. Harvard 

Review of Psychiatry. 2001, Vol. 9, 6, pp. 267-279. 

9. Belin, D and Deroche-Gamonet, V. Responses to Novelty and Vulnerability to Cocaine Addiction: 

Contribution of a Multi-Symptomatic Animal Model. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine. 

2012, Vol. 2, 11. 

10. Hayes, P. Many people use drugs - but here's why most don't become addicts. The Conversation. 

[Online] 2015. [Cited: May 29, 2019.] http://theconversation.com/many-people-use-drugs-but-

heres-why-most-dont-become-addicts-35504. 

11. Anandaciva, S et al. How is the NHS performing? December 2018 quarterly monitoring report. 

Kings Fund. [Online] 2018. [Cited: April 16, 2019.] https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/how-

nhs-performing-december-2018#mental-health. 

12. Public Health Wales. Welsh Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study. Liverpool John Moores 

University. [Online] 2015. [Cited: April 15, 2019.] 

http://researchonline.ljmu.ac.uk/2648/1/ACE%20Report%20FINAL%20%28E%29.pdf. 

Page 87



 

80 
 

13. Richards, E. The Health of People with Court Orders Supervised by Probation Services: An 

exploratory study - PhD thesis. Southampton : University of Southampton, Faculty of Medicine. 

14. Marmot, M. Fair Society, Healthy Lives - The Marmot Review. Institute of Health Equity. [Online] 

2010. [Cited: February 21, 2019.] http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-

society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report-pdf.pdf. 

15. Public Health England. Public Health Outcomes Framework. [Online] Public Health England, 

2019. [Cited: April 15, 2019.] https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-

framework/. 

16. Southampton City Council. Reducing Drug Related Litter in Southampton. Southampton City 

Council. [Online] 2018. [Cited: April 16, 2019.] http://www.southampton.gov.uk/images/drug-

related-litter-final-report_tcm63-399510.pdf. 

17. Office for National Statistics. Deaths of homeless people in England and Wales 2013 to 2017. 

[Online] 2018. [Cited: April 16, 2019.] 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulleti

ns/deathsofhomelesspeopleinenglandandwales/2013to2017. 

18. Safer Portsmouth Partnership. Strategic Assessment of Crime, Anti-Social Behaviour, Substance 

Misuse And Re-Offending 2017. Safer Portsmouth Partnership. [Online] 2017. [Cited: April 16, 2019.] 

http://www.saferportsmouth.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Strategic-Assessment-2016-17-

web-version.pdf. 

19. Homeless Link. Rough sleeping - explore the data. Homeless Link. [Online] 2019. [Cited: April 16, 

2019.] https://www.homeless.org.uk/facts/homelessness-in-numbers/rough-sleeping/rough-

sleeping-explore-data. 

20. Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government. Homelessness Reduction Act: policy 

factsheets. [Online] 2018. [Cited: April 18, 2019.] 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/homelessness-reduction-bill-policy-factsheets . 

21. National Audit Office. Homelessness. National Audit Office. [Online] 2017. [Cited: April 18, 

2019.] https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Homelessness.pdf . 

22. United Nations Special Rapporteur. Report of the Special Rapporteur on extreme poverty and 

human rights on his visit to the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Irelands. [Online] 

2019. [Cited: June 12, 2019.] https://undocs.org/pdf?symbol=ar/A/HRC/41/39/Add.1. 

23. Francis-Devine, B, Booth, L and McGuinness, F. House of Commons Library Briefing Paper 7096 - 

Poverty in the UK: statistics. London : House of Commons, 2019. 

24. McGuinness, F and Harari, D. House of Commons Library Briefing Paper 7484 - Income inequality 

in the UK. London : House of Commons, 2019. 

25. Cheetham, M, et al. Impact of Universal Credit in North East England: a qualitative study of 

claimants and support staff. BMJ. 2019, Vol. 9. 

26. Shah, A, Mullainathan, S and Shafir, E. Some Consequences of Having Too Little. Science. 2012, 

Vol. 338, 6107, pp. 682-685. 

Page 88



 

81 
 

27. Wilkinson, R and Pickett, K. The Spirit Level: Why Equality is Better for Everyone. New York : 

Bloomsbury Press, 2010. 

28. Safer Portsmouth Partnership. Complex Needs. Safer Portsmouth Partnership. [Online] 2018. 

[Cited: June 14, 2019.] http://www.saferportsmouth.org.uk/complex-needs. 

29. Public Health England. Opiate and crack cocaine use: prevalence estimates by local area. 

[Online] 2019. [Cited: September 8, 2019.] https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/opiate-

and-crack-cocaine-use-prevalence-estimates-for-local-populations. 

30. National Drug Treatment Monitoring System. Community Adult Treatment Performance 

Reports. [Online] 2019. [Cited: March 7, 2019.] https://www.ndtms.net/Monthly/Adults. 

31. Home Office. Seizures of Drugs in England and Wales. [Online] 2018. [Cited: March 7, 2019.] 

https://data.gov.uk/dataset/8460d34a-12c7-46f4-9b7b-00d8cd06eb10/seizures-of-drugs-in-

england-and-wales. 

32. British Medical Association Board of Science. Drugs of Dependence. [Online] 2013. [Cited: 

November 12, 2018.] https://www.bma.org.uk/-

/media/files/pdfs/news%20views%20analysis/in%20depth/drugs%20of%20dependence/drugsofdep

end_roleofmedprof_jan2013.pdf?la=en. 

33. Spiegelhalter, D. Highs and lows of illegal drugs. [Online] 2012. [Cited: November 6, 2018.] 

http://www.bbc.com/future/story/20120705-highs-and-lows-of-illegal-drugs. 

34. Office for National Statistics. Deaths related to drug poisoning by selected substances. [Online] 

2019. [Cited: August 19, 2019.] 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datase

ts/deathsrelatedtodrugpoisoningbyselectedsubstances. 

35. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction. Drug-related deaths and mortality 

in Europe. [Online] 2019. [Cited: August 2, 2019.] 

http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/system/files/publications/11485/20193286_TD0319444ENN_PDF.p

df. 

36. Office for National Statistics. Deaths related to drug poisoning in England and Wales: 2018 

registrations. [Online] 2019. [Cited: September 11, 2019.] 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulleti

ns/deathsrelatedtodrugpoisoninginenglandandwales/2018registrations. 

37. —. Drug-related deaths by local authority, England and Wales. [Online] 2019. [Cited: August 19, 

2019.] 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datase

ts/drugmisusedeathsbylocalauthority . 

38. The Loop. Twitter alerts. [Online] 2018. [Cited: November 9, 2018.] 

https://twitter.com/WeAreTheLoopUK/timelines/1002139671609167872?ref_src=twsrc%5Etfw. 

39. Palamar, J et al. Detection of "bath salts" and other novel psychoactive substances in hair 

samples of ecstasy/MDMA/"Molly" users. Drug & Alcohol Dependence. 2016, Vol. 161, pp. 200-205. 

Page 89



 

82 
 

40. Day, N et al. Music festival attendees' illicit drug use, knowledge and practices regarding drug 

content and purity: a cross-sectional survey. Harm Reduction Journal. 2018, Vol. 14, pp. 1-8. 

41. Deehan, A and Saville, E. Recreational drug use among clubbers in the South East of England. 

[Online] 2003. [Cited: August 22, 2018.] http://www.dldocs.stir.ac.uk/documents/r208.pdf . 

42. Leslie, E et al. Engagement with different nightlife venues and frequent ecstasy use in a young 

adult population. Drugs: Education, Prevention & Policy. 2015, Vol. 22, 4, pp. 380-384. 

43. Lim, M et al. A cross-sectional survey of young people attending a music festival: associations 

between drug use and musical preference. Drug & Alcohol Review. 2008, Vol. 27, 4, pp. 439-441. 

44. Palamar, J et al. Illicit drug use among rave attendees in a nationally representative sample of US 

high school seniors. Drug and Alcohol Dependence. 2015, Vol. 152, pp. 24-31. 

45. —. Self-reported use of novel psychoactive substances among attendees of electronic dance 

music venues. The American Journal Of Drug And Alcohol Abuse. 2016, Vol. 42, 6, pp. 624-632. 

46. Kuczyńska, K et al. Abuse of fentanyl: An emerging problem to face. Forensic Science 

International. 2018, Vol. 289, pp. 2017-214. 

47. ChangeGrowLive. Fentanyl Report. [Online] 2017. [Cited: January 25, 2019.] 

https://www.changegrowlive.org/what-we-do/evidence-impact/reports/fentanyl-report-action-plan 

. 

48. Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government. Local authority revenue expenditure 

and financing. [Online] 2019. [Cited: August 19, 2019.] 

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing. 

49. National AIDS Trust. Drug-related deaths in England: local authorities and how they are 

responding. [Online] 2019. [Cited: April 29, 2019.] 

https://www.nat.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/drug_related_deaths_in_england.pdf. 

50. The Kings Fund. The NHS budget and how it has changed. [Online] 2018. [Cited: January 25, 

2019.] https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/nhs-in-a-nutshell/nhs-budget. 

51. Public Health England. Understanding and preventing drug-related deaths. [Online] 2016. [Cited: 

June 12, 2019.] 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file

/669308/Understanding_and_preventing_drug_related_deaths_report.pdf. 

52. Herbst, ED et al. Cocaethylene formation following ethanol and cocaine administration by 

different routes. Exp Clin Psychopharmacol. 2011, Vol. 19, 2, pp. 95-104. 

53. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction. United Kingdom Drug Report 2018. 

[Online] 2018. [Cited: January 25, 2019.] 

http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/system/files/publications/8894/united-kingdom-cdr-2018-with-

numbers.pdf. 

54. Home Office. Understanding organised crime: estimating the scale and the social and economic 

costs. [Online] 2013. [Cited: November 12, 2018.] 

Page 90



 

83 
 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file

/246390/horr73.pdf. 

55. National Treatment Agency. Why Invest? [Online] 2014. [Cited: April 10, 2019.] 

https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140727020135/http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/whyi

nvest2final.pdf. 

56. Office for National Statistics. Homicide in England and Wales: year ending March 2018. [Online] 

2019. [Cited: April 10, 2019.] 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/homicideinengla

ndandwales/yearendingmarch2018#highest-number-of-sharp-instrument-homicides-seen-in-year-

ending-march-2018 . 

57. Department for Transport. Reported drinking and driving. [Online] 2019. [Cited: September 6, 

2019.] https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/ras51-reported-drinking-and-driving. 

58. May, C. Transnational Crime and the Developing World, Global Financial Integrity. [Online] 2017. 

[Cited: April 11, 2019.] https://www.gfintegrity.org/wp-

content/uploads/2017/03/Transnational_Crime-final.pdf. 

59. United Nations. United Nations Statistics - Country Profiles. [Online] 2019. [Cited: April 11, 

2019.] https://unstats.un.org/unsd/snaama/CountryProfile. 

60. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. Drug trafficking and the financing of terrorism. 

[Online] 2019. [Cited: June 14, 2019.] https://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/frontpage/drug-trafficking-

and-the-financing-of-terrorism.html. 

61. Omelicheva, M and Markowitz, L. Does Drug Trafficking Impact Terrorism? Afghan Opioids and 

Terrorist Violence in Central Asia. Studies in Conflict & Terrorism. 2019, Vol. 42, 12, pp. 1021-1043. 

62. Home Office. Criminal Exploitation of children and vulnerable adults: County Lines Guidance. 

[Online] 2018. [Cited: January 25, 2019.] 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file

/741194/HOCountyLinesGuidanceSept2018.pdf (. 

63. Coomber, R and Moyle, L. The changing shape of street-level heroin and crack supply in England: 

Commuting, holidaying and cuckooing drug dealers across 'county lines'. British Journal of 

Criminology. 2018, Vol. 58, pp. 1323-1342. 

64. Windle, J and Briggs, D. Goin' Solo: The Social Organisation of Drug Dealers within a London 

Gang. Journal of Youth Studies. 2015, Vol. 18, 9, pp. 1170-1185. 

65. Reuter, P and Stevens, A. An Analysis of UK Drug Policy. [Online] 2007. [Cited: April 8, 2019.] 

https://kar.kent.ac.uk/13332/1/analysis_of_UK_drug_policy.pdf. 

66. United Kingdom Government. Drugs penalties. [Online] 2019. [Cited: April 8, 2019.] 

https://www.gov.uk/penalties-drug-possession-dealing. 

67. Mallea, P. The War on Drugs: A Failed Experiment, . s.l. : Dundurn, 2014. 

68. Nutt, D et al. Drug harms in the UK: a multicriteria decision. Lancet. 2010, Vol. 376, pp. 1558-

1565. 

Page 91



 

84 
 

69. Global Commission on Drug Policy. The World Drug Perception Problem. [Online] 2017. [Cited: 

April 25, 2019.] http://www.globalcommissionondrugs.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/GCDP-

Report-2017_Perceptions-ENGLISH.pdf. 

70. The Police Foundation. Drugs and the Law. [Online] 2000. [Cited: November 15, 2018.] 

http://www.police-foundation.org.uk/2017/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/drugs_and_the_law.pdf. 

71. Home Office. Drugs: International Comparators. [Online] 2014. [Cited: November 15, 2018.] 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file

/368489/DrugsInternationalComparators.pdf . 

72. Stevens, A. Is policy 'liberalization' associated with higher odds of adolescent cannabis use? A re-

analysis of data from 38 countries. International Journal of Drug Policy. Vol. 66, pp. 94-99. 

73. Eastwood, N, Fox, E and Rosmarin, A. A Quiet Revolution: Drug Decriminalisation Across the 

Globe. Release. [Online] 2016. [Cited: February 8, 2019.] 

https://www.release.org.uk/sites/default/files/pdf/publications/A%20Quiet%20Revolution%20-

%20Decriminalisation%20Across%20the%20Globe.pdf. 

74. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction. European country drug reports and 

statistical bulletin. [Online] 2019. [Cited: February 8, 2019.] 

http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/countries_en. 

75. Magliocca, N. Modelling cocaine traffickers and counterdrug interdiction forces as a complex 

adaptive system. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 

2019, Vol. 116, 16, pp. 7784-7792. 

76. Global Commission on Drugs Policy. Regulation - The Responsible Control of Drugs. [Online] 

2018. [Cited: November 15, 2018.] http://www.globalcommissionondrugs.org/wp-

content/uploads/2018/09/ENG-2018_Regulation_Report_WEB-FINAL.pdf . 

77. United Kingdom Focal Point on Drugs. United Kingdom Drug Situation 2017. [Online] 2017. 

[Cited: July 9, 2019.] 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file

/713101/Focal_Point_Annual_Report.pdf . 

78. Revolving Doors. Rebalancing Act - A resource for Directors of Public Health, Police and Crime 

Commissions and other health and justice commissioners, service providers and users. [Online] 

2017. [Cited: September 10, 2019.] http://www.revolving-

doors.org.uk/file/2050/download?token=m-t2NRKC. 

79. HM Inspectorate of Prisons. Changing patterns of substance misuse in adult prisons and service 

responses. [Online] 2015. [Cited: November 15, 2018.] 

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprisons/wp-

content/uploads/sites/4/2015/12/Substance-misuse-web-2015.pdf (accessed 14/2/19). . 

80. Grigg, J et al. Drug detection dogs at Australian outdoor music festivals: Deterrent, detection and 

iatrogenic effects. International Journal of Drug Policy. Vol. 60, pp. 89-95. 

81. Race, K. Complex events: Drug effects and emergent causality'. Contemporary Drug Problems. 

2014, Vol. 41, 3, pp. 445-479. 

Page 92



 

85 
 

82. Ruane, D. Harm Reduction or Psychedelic Support? Caring for Drug-Related Crises at 

Transformational Festivals. Dancecult: Journal of Electronic Dance Music Culture. 2015, Vol. 7, 1, pp. 

55-75. 

83. Nuffield Council of Bioethics. Public Health: Ethical Issues. [Online] 2007. [Cited: February 25, 

2019.] http://nuffieldbioethics.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/Public-health-ethical-issues.pdf . 

84. Shiner, M, Carre, Z and Eastwood, N. The Colour of Injustice: 'Race', drugs and law enforcement 

in England and Wales. [Online] 2019. [Cited: May 2, 2019.] 

https://www.release.org.uk/sites/default/files/pdf/publications/The%20Colour%20of%20Injustice.p

df. 

85. Trading Economics. Portugal Unemployment Rate. [Online] 2019. [Cited: February 26, 2019.] 

https://tradingeconomics.com/portugal/unemployment-rate . 

86. Health Poverty Action. Cannabis - Regulate it. Tax it. Support the NHS. Promote public health. 

[Online] 2018. [Cited: June 17, 2019.] https://www.healthpovertyaction.org/wp-

content/uploads/2018/12/HPA-Cannabis-report-WEB.pdf. 

87. Home Office. Review of the Psychoactive Substances Act 2016. [Online] 2018. [Cited: June 17, 

2019.] 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file

/756896/Review_of_the_Psychoactive_Substances_Act__2016___web_.pdf. 

88. United Nations. Universal Declaration of Human Rights. [Online] 1948. [Cited: May 25, 2019.] 

https://www.ohchr.org/EN/UDHR/Documents/UDHR_Translations/eng.pdf. 

89. HM Government. 2017 Drug Strategy. [Online] 2017. [Cited: November 15, 2018.] 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file

/628148/Drug_strategy_2017.PDF . 

90. Ireland Department of Health. Reducing Harm, Supporting Recovery. [Online] 2017. [Cited: 

September 10, 2019.] https://health.gov.ie/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Reducing-Harm-

Supporting-Recovery-2017-2025.pdf. 

91. Moore-Bridger, B. Revealed: How thousands of London children are exposed to Scientology 

group in schools. [Online] 2017. [Cited: February 14, 2019.] 

https://www.standard.co.uk/news/education/revealed-how-thousands-of-london-children-are-

exposed-to-scientology-group-in-schools-a3433041.html. 

92. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction. Prevention interventions for school 

students. [Online] 2017. [Cited: February 14, 2019.] http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/best-

practice/prevention/school-children#Faggiano2014 . 

93. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Cost statement: Needle and syringe 

programmes. NICE. [Online] 2014. [Cited: September 4, 2019.] 

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph52/resources/ph52-needle-and-syringe-programmes-costing-

statement2. 

Page 93



 

86 
 

94. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction. Preventing fatal overdoses: a 

systematic review of the effectiveness of take-home naloxone. [Online] 2015. [Cited: May 3, 2019.] 

http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/system/files/publications/932/TDAU14009ENN.web_.pdf. 

95. Carre, Z and Ali, A. Finding a Needle in a Haystack: Take-Home Naloxone in England 2017/18. 

[Online] 2019. [Cited: September 10, 2019.] 

https://www.release.org.uk/sites/default/files/pdf/publications/Finding%20a%20Needle%20in%20a

%20Haystack_0.pdf. 

96. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction. Perspectives on drugs: Drug 

consumption rooms: an overview of provision and evidence. [Online] 2018. [Cited: December 11, 

2018.] 

http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/system/files/publications/2734/POD_Drug%20consumption%20roo

ms.pdf. 

97. Joseph Rowntree Foundation. The Report of the Independent Working Group on Drug 

Consumption Rooms. [Online] 2006. [Cited: February 11, 2019.] 

https://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/default/files/jrf/migrated/files/9781859354711.pdf . 

98. Advisory Council for the MIsuse of Drugs. Reducing Opioid-Related Deaths in the UK. [Online] 

2016. [Cited: February 11, 2019.] 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file

/576560/ACMD-Drug-Related-Deaths-Report-161212.pdf . 

99. Independent Drugs Commission for Brighton & Hove. Report and Recommendations. [Online] 

2013. [Cited: February 11, 2019.] 

https://www.safeinthecity.info/sites/safeinthecity.info/files/sitc/Drugs%20commission%20report%2

0final.pdf. 

100. Glasgow City Health and Social Care Partnership. Frequently asked questions - Safer drug 

consumption facilities and heroin-assisted treatment. [Online] [Cited: February 11, 2019.] 

https://www.glasgow.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=38604&p=0. 

101. Drug and Alcohol Findings. Time for safer injecting spaces in Britain? [Online] 2016. [Cited: 

February 11, 2019.] https://findings.org.uk/PHP/dl.php?file=hot_rooms.hot. 

102. Belackova, V and Salmon, A. Overview of international literature - supervised injecting facilities 

& drug consumption rooms - Issue 1. 2017. 

103. Benschop, A, Rabes, M and Korf, D. Pill Testing, Ecstasy and Prevention. [Online] 2002. [Cited: 

September 10, 2019.] http://www.bonger.nl/PDF/Overigen/kleinPill%20Testing%20-

%20Ecstasy%20%20Prevention.pdf. 

104. National Union of Students. Taking the Hit - Student drug use and how institutions respond. 

[Online] 2018. [Cited: September 9, 2018.] https://nusdigital.s3-eu-west-

1.amazonaws.com/document/documents/42041/Taking_the_Hit_-

_Student_drug_use_and_how_institutions_respond.pdf?AWSAccessKeyId=AKIAJKEA56ZWK. 

105. Hungerbuehler, I et al. Drug Checking: A prevention measure for a heterogeneous group with 

high consumption frequency and polydrug use - evaluation of Zurich's drug checking services. Harm 

Reduction Journal. 2011, Vol. 8, 16, pp. 16-22. 

Page 94



 

87 
 

106. Bushby, B. Britain's biggest festival organiser dismays campaigners by backtracking on support 

for drug testing. [Online] 2018. [Cited: April 29, 2019.] 

https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/music-industry-giant-festival-republic-

backtrack-support-drug-testing-a8379296.html . 

107. Johnston, J et al. A survey of regular ecstasy users' knowledge and practices around 

determining pill content and purity. International Journal of Drug Policy. Vol. 17, pp. 464-472. 

108. KnowYourStuffNZ. Why it works. [Online] 2018. [Cited: February 25, 2019.] 

https://knowyourstuff.nz/why-it-works/ . 

109. Kriener, H and Schmidt, R. Check Your Pills. Check Your Life. ChEck iT!! . [Online] 2002. [Cited: 

February 25, 2019.] 

http://web.archive.org/web/20081003035339/http://www.drugtext.org:80/library/articles/kriener.

htm . 

110. Measham, F. Drug safety testing, disposals and dealing in an English field: Exploring the 

operational and behavioural outcomes of the UK's first onsite 'drug checking' service. International 

Journal of Drug Policy. 2019, Vol. 67, pp. 102-107. 

111. Royal Society of Public Health. Drug safety testing at festivals and night clubs. [Online] 2018. 

[Cited: July 23, 2018.] https://www.rsph.org.uk/about-us/news/let-festival-goers-and-clubbers-test-

their-drugs-to-reduce-harm.html. 

112. Sage, C. Harm Reduction and Drug Checking: A wrap-around service for festivals. [Online] 2015. 

[Cited: April 29, 2019.] 

https://www.colleaga.org/sites/default/files/attachments/2015_ankors_smf_summary.pdf. 

113. Saleemi, S et al. 'Who is 'Molly'? MDMA adulterants by product name and the impact of harm-

reduction services at raves'. Journal of Psychopharmacology. 2017, Vol. 31, 8, pp. 1056-1060. 

114. Spruit, I. Monitoring synthetic drug markets, trends, and public health. Substance use and 

misuse. 2001, Vol. 36, 1-2, pp. 23-47. 

115. STA-SAFE Consortium. Report on the ACT GTM Pill Testing Pilot: a Harm Reduction Service. 

[Online] 2018. [Cited: April 29, 2019.] https://www.harmreductionaustralia.org.au/wp-

content/uploads/2018/06/Pill-Testing-Pilot-ACT-June-2018-Final-Report.pdf. 

116. World Health Organisation. Guidelines for the Psychosocially Assisted Pharmacological 

Treatment of Opioid Dependence. [Online] 2009. [Cited: April 30, 2019.] 

https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/43948/9789241547543_eng.pdf;jsessionid=D08D

84DC6BCC890B0344A95DF53BC813?sequence=1. 

117. Davies, L et al. The Drug Treatment Outcomes Research Study (DTORS): Cost-effectiveness 

analysis. [Online] 2009. [Cited: February 26, 2019.] 

https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20110218141228/http://rds.homeoffice.gov.uk/rds/pdf

s09/horr25c.pdf (accessed 26/2/19).. 

118. Birkinshaw, P et al. An evidence review of the outcomes that can be expected of drug misuse 

treatment in England. [Online] 2017. [Cited: February 14, 2019.] 

https://findings.org.uk/PHP/dl.php?file=PHE_50.txt&s=eb&sf=rel. 

Page 95



 

88 
 

119. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction. EMCDDA Insights - New heroin-

assisted treatment. [Online] 2012. [Cited: February 11, 2019.] 

https://publications.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/dde741c2-d4d4-4c17-a86f-

e8f5b562bda9/language-en . 

120. Ferri, M, Davoli, M and Perucci, C. Heroin maintenance for chronic heroin-dependent 

individuals - Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. [Online] 2011. [Cited: February 11, 2019.] 

https://www.cochranelibrary.com/cdsr/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD003410.pub4/full . 

121. Clinical Guidelines on Drug Misuse and Dependence Update 2017 Independent Expert 

Working Group. Drug misuse and dependence - UK guidelines on clinical management. [Online] 

2017. [Cited: September 11, 2019.] 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file

/673978/clinical_guidelines_2017.pdf. 

122. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Drug misuse management in over 16s 

overview. [Online] 2019. [Cited: February 25, 2019.] https://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/drug-

misuse-management-in-over-16s . 

123. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction. How can contingency management 

support treatment for substance use disorders? A systematic review. [Online] 2016. [Cited: February 

13, 2019.] http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/system/files/publications/3162/TDAU13001ENN.pdf . 

124. NEPTUNE. Novel Psychoactive Treatment: UK Network. [Online] 2019. [Cited: September 6, 

2019.] http://neptune-clinical-guidance.co.uk/. 

125. Wood, D. Improvement in the pre-hospital care of recreational drug users through the 

development of club specific ambulance referral guidelines. Substance Abuse Treatment. 2008, Vol. 

3, 14. 

126. Newcombe, R and Manchester City Council. Safer Dancing - Guidelines for Good Practice at 

Dance Parties and Nightclubs. [Online] 1995. [Cited: May 3, 2019.] 

http://www.michaellinnell.org.uk/michael_linnell_archive/safer_dancing/pdf/Safer%20Dancing%20r

eport/S4%20safer%20dancng%20report.pdf. 

127. Home Office and London Drug Policy Forum. afer Nightlife - Best practice for those concerned 

about drug use and the night-time economy. [Online] 2008. [Cited: May 3, 2019.] 

http://newip.safernightlife.org/pdfs/digital_library/uk_safer_nightlife_guideline.pdf. 

 

 

In the process of researching this topic Adam Holland has worked in a volunteer 

capacity for the Loop and observed the work of other organisations involved in drugs 

harm reduction. 

 

 

Page 96


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (including matters arising)
	5 Director of Public Health Annual Report 2018/19
	Enc. 1 for Director of Public Health Annual Report 2018/19


